#### ABSTRACT

Title of Document:	INHIBITION OF PRRSV REPLICATION BY COMBINATION OF ANTISENSE MORPHOLINO OLIGOMERS
	Xue Han, Master of Science, 2008
Directed By:	Dr. Yanjin Zhang VA-MD Regional College of Veterinary Medicine

Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) has caused heavily economic losses in the swine industry worldwide and current strategies to control PRRS are inadequate. Previous studies have shown that antisense peptide-conjugated phosphorodiamidate morpholino oligomers (PPMO) can be effective antivirals against PRRS virus (PRRSV). PPMO are structurally similar to DNA with modified backbone and resistant to nuclease. In this study, we characterized the combined effect of PPMO. Two pairs of PPMO combinations were identified to show enhanced inhibitory effect on PRRSV replication in cell culture. The PPMO combination also inhibited replication of heterologous PRRSV strains within the same genotype. Treatment of the cells with the combination reduced PRRSV RNA and protein levels. In transiently transfected cells, the PPMO combination suppressed target mRNA expression, indicating that the suppression was due to their antisense effect. These results suggest potential application of these PPMO combinations for the control of PRRSV infection and spread.

# INHIBITION OF PRRSV REPLICATION BY COMBINATION OF ANTISENSE MORPHOLINO OLIGOMERS

By

Xue Han

Thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of the University of Maryland, College Park, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science 2008

Advisory Committee:

Professor Yanjin Zhang, Chair Professor Xiaoping Zhu Professor Nathaniel L Tablante © Copyright by

Xue Han

2008

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I gratefully acknowledge the invaluable input provided by my thesis advisor, Dr. Yanjin Zhang. Among many other things, he has demonstrated his patience, enthusiasm and understanding as I pursued my graduate studies during the past two years. His inspiring philosophical perspective and scientific knowledge have greatly enriched my learning experience. I am also grateful to my committee members Dr. Xiaoping Zhu and Dr. Nathaniel Tablante for their valuable advices, time and support during my graduate study.

I am thankful to my colleagues at Dr. Zhang's lab, Deendayal Patel, Harilakshmi Kannan, and Sumin Fan for their help, understanding, and friendship during my two-year study. In addition, I also greatly appreciate Sumin Fan for her assistance in providing me miscellaneous laboratory support whenever I needed it. I also wish to express my appreciation and gratitude to fellow students, staff, and the faculty of the Departments of Animal Science and Veterinary Medicine for providing a great environment for graduate study and research. I would also like to thank AVI Biopharma Inc for providing the PPMO in this study.

I would especially like to thank my parents and my uncle for their love, support and encouragement. Without them this thesis could not have been completed.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKN	JOWLE	EDGEMENTS	ii
TABLE OF CONTENTSiii			
LIST OF TABLESv			
LIST (	OF FIG	URES	vi
LIST (	OF ABI	BREVIATION	vii
CHAP	TER 1:	LITERATURE REVIEW	1
1.1	Porcin	e Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome (PRRS)	1
	1.1.1	Introduction	1
	1.1.2	Clinical Symptoms	2
	1.1.3	Pathogenesis	4
1.2	1.2 Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus (PRRSV)		5
	1.2.1	PRRSV Introduction	5
	1.2.2	Genome Structure, Expression and Replication	6
	1.2.3	PRRSV Growth Characteristics In Vitro	9
1.3	Immu	ne Response to PRRSV Infection	12
	1.3.1	Humoral Immune Response	12
	1.3.2	Cellular Mediated Immune Response(CMI)	15
1.4	PRRS	V Antigenic and Genetic Variations	16
	1.4.1	Antigenic Variations	16
	1.4.2	Genetic Variations	17
1.5	Infecti	ous cDNA Clones:Reverse Genetics System	18
1.6	Diagn	osis, Prevention and Control	20
	1.6.1	Diagnosis	20
	1.6.2	Prevention and control	21
	1.6.3	Vaccination	23

1.7	Phosphorodiamidate Morpholino Oligomer (PMO) as
	A Novel Antiviral Agent
1.8	Research Objectives
CTT + T	
CHAI	YTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS29
2.1	Cells and Viruses29
2.2	Determination of Virus Titer
2.3	Indirect Immunofluorescence Assay (IFA)
2.4	PPMO Synthesis
2.5	PPMO Treatment of CRL11171 Cells
2.6	RNA Isolation
2.7	Real-Time RT-PCR(Reverse transcription-PCR)
2.8	Plasmid Construction and Cell-Free Luciferase Reporter Assay34
2.9	Statistical Analysis
CHAI	2 TER 3: RESULTS
CHAP 3.1	PTER 3: RESULTS
CHAF 3.1 3.2	TER 3: RESULTS
CHAF 3.1 3.2 3.3	PTER 3: RESULTS
CHAF 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4	PTER 3: RESULTS
CHAF 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5	PTER 3: RESULTS
CHAF 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5	PTER 3: RESULTS
CHAF 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6	PTER 3: RESULTS
CHAF 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7	TER 3: RESULTS
CHAF 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7	PTER 3: RESULTS. 37   Anti-PRRSV PPMO. 37   Effect of Combination PPMO Treatment on Inhibiting PRRSV Replication41 41   Effect of Combination PPMO Treatment on PRRSV RNA Synthesis. 45   Effect of PPMO Combination Treatment on PRRSV Protein Synthesis. 45   Sequence-specific Inhibition of Target mRNA in a 51   Cell-free reporter assay 51   PPMO Targeting the PRRSV 5' UTR Can Interference with Translation53 51   Inhibition Effect of PPMO Combination Against 57
CHAF 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7 CHAF	PTER 3: RESULTS. 37   Anti-PRRSV PPMO. 37   Effect of Combination PPMO Treatment on Inhibiting PRRSV Replication41   Effect of Combination PPMO Treatment on PRRSV RNA Synthesis. 45   Effect of PPMO Combination Treatment on PRRSV Protein Synthesis. 45   Sequence-specific Inhibition of Target mRNA in a 51   Cell-free reporter assay 51   PPMO Targeting the PRRSV 5' UTR Can Interference with Translation53 51   Inhibition Effect of PPMO Combination Against 57   PTER 4: DISCUSSION. 61

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 3-1:	PPMO and their target sites in PRRSV RNA Genome
Table 3-2:	Sequence-Specific Inhibition of Target RNA Translation In A Cell-Free Luciferase Reporter Assay
Table 3-3:	Sequence-specific inhibition of target mRNA translation of a luciferase reporter in CRL11171 Cells

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1-1:	Genome Organization of PRRSV8
Figure 1-2:	Immune Response after Infection of Pigs with PRRSV13
Figure 1-3:	Structure of PPMO27
Figure 3-1:	Schematic Illustration of PPMO
	Target Locations in the PRRSV Genome40
Figure 3-2:	PPMO-mediated inhibition of PRRSV Replication in
	Infected CRL11171 Cells45
Figure 3-3:	Effect of combination of PPMO treatment on
	PRRSV RNA Synthesis
Figure 3-4:	Immunofluorescence assay with N-specific mAbs50
Figure 3-5.	Inhibition of target RNA translation by PPMO
	in a cell-free luciferase reporter assay
Figure 3-6:	Immunofluorescence assay of cells transfected
	with PRRSV N-plasmid pcDNA3-sg754
Figure 3-7:	Inhibition of target RNA translation by PPMO
	in a luciferase reporter assay56
Figure 3-8:	Cross Strain Inhibition Assay
Figure 3-9:	Alignment of target sequence of PPMO 5UP1, 4P1 and 7P159

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

PRRS:	Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome
PRRSV:	Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus
PAM:	Porcine Alveolar Macrophage
PPMO:	Peptide-Conjugated Phosphorodiamidate Morpholino Oligomers
PMO:	Phosphorodiamidate Morpholino Oligomers
EAV:	Equine Arthritis Virus
SHFV:	Simian Hemorrhagic Fever Virus
LDV:	Lactate Dehydrogenase Virus
ORF:	Open Reading Frame
MAbs:	Monoclonal Antibodies
NSP:	Nonstructural Protein
ELISA:	Enzyme Linked-Immonosorbent Assay
LV:	Lelystad Virus
GP:	Glycoprotein
RT-PCR:	Reverse Transcriptase-Polymerase Chain Reaction.
UTR:	Untranslated Region
IFA:	Immunofluorescence Assay
TRS:	Transcription Regulatory Sequence
CMI:	Cell-Mediated Immune Response

## **CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### **1.1 Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome (PRRS)**

### 1.1.1 Introduction

Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) is recognized as one of the most economically important diseases in the swine industry worldwide. The disease is characterized by severe reproductive failure in sows and respiratory disease in young pigs. A clinical outbreak of PRRS was first reported in the United States in 1987 (Keffaber 1989), and subsequently in Europe in 1990 (Wensvoort et al 1991). Initially, due to the unknown etiologic agent, the disease was also referred to as mystery swine disease, swine infertility and respiratory syndrome, porcine epidemic abortion and respiratory syndrome, and blue-eared pig disease (Wensvoort et al., 1991; Terpstra et al., 1991; White M. 1991).

The etiologic agent of PRRS was first isolated on porcine alveolar macrophages by Wensvoort et al in Europe in 1991 and this isolate was designated as Lelystad virus (LV) (Wensvoort et al 1991). In 1992, a similar virus was isolated on an MA104 derived cell line (CL 2621) by Collins et al in the U.S. and the isolate was ATCC VR-2332, which was shown to reproduce the disease in pigs (Collins et al., 1992; Christopher-Henning et al., 1995). The high transmissibility of PRRS virus (PRRSV) made the disease spread quickly around the world. In 1994, the disease and isolation of PRRSV was officially recognized in 16 countries on three different continents: America,

1

Europe, and Asia (Nelsen et al., 1999). Currently, only Australia, New Zealand, and Chile are reportedly free from PRRSV infection (Beltran-Alcrudo et al, 2007). The most recent outbreaks occurred in Vietnam and China (Beltran-Alcrudo et al, 2007). In June 2006, a "porcine high fever disease" was reported in China and the disease quickly spread to more than 25 provinces. In early 2007, the causative agent of the ongoing "porcine high fever syndrome" was considered to be an atypical PRRS epidemic. Unlike other previous outbreaks, the PRRSV isolates in China were highly virulent and caused high mortality in adult pigs and pregnant sows (Tian et al, 2007). The PRRS epidemic in China has led to devastating economic impact and has increased pork prices by as much as 85% in that country (Beltran-Alcrudo et al, 2007). The PRRS virus continuously evolves within infected pigs, a characteristic which has important implications for disease transmission, viral virulence, and host immunity among the infected herds. PRRS is the most common and economically important infectious disease in the swine industry worldwide (Albina et al., 1997). In the United States, PRRS is estimated to cause about \$560 million losses per year to the swine industry (Neumann et al 2005).

#### **1.1.2 Clinical Symptoms**

PRRSV is highly contagious and causes persistent infection in affected herds worldwide. Pigs are the only species known to be naturally susceptible to PRRSV infection. PRRSV can infect susceptible pigs by a number of routes, including oral, intranasal, intramuscular, intraperitoneal and vaginal (Goyal SM 1993; Prieto et al., 2005). The typical incubation period ranges from days to weeks in natural outbreaks (Rossow at al., 1994; Zimmerman et al., 2006). The clinical illnesses and mortality vary widely depending on the age, susceptibility of pigs, and virulence of the causative strain of PRRSV (Mengling et al., 1996). The most common clinical signs are reproductive failure of sows and respiratory illness in pigs of all ages. Typical clinical signs of PRRS in pregnant sows include premature farrowing, abortions, increased number of stillborn, mummified and weak-born pigs, and increase in preweaning mortality (Wensvoort al., 1991; Benfield et al., 1992). Typical clinical signs in young piglets include respiratory disorders, anorexia, lethargy, cutaneous hyperemia, and increased mortality as a result of secondary infections and retarded growth (Wensvoort et al 1991; Wensvoort et al., 1992). Acute PRRSV infection with viremia usually lasts for 4 to 6 weeks, followed by a persistent period in lymphoid tissues that can last for several months before complete resolution of infection (Allende et al., 2000; Johnson et al., 2004; Wills et al., 1997).

The ability to induce persistent infection by PRSSV is an important epidemiological characteristic of PRRSV infection. The virus could persist in the herd for a long time (Stevenson et al., 1993; Bilodeau et al., 1994). Pigs infected with PRRSV can shed and excrete virus via semen, saliva, urine, feces, and nasal and mammary gland secretions for relatively long periods of time (Christopher-Hennings et al., 2001). PRRSV has been detected or isolated in serum up to 210-days post infection (DPI) and semen up to 92 DPI (Swenson et al., 1994; Wills et al, 1997). The PRRSV persistence and virus shedding in infected herds, together with the high degree of antigenic, genetic and pathogenic diversity adds to the complexity of controlling and eliminating this disease in the swine industry worldwide (Bilodeau et al., 1994; Meng et al., 2000).

#### 1.1.3 Pathogenesis

PRRSV infection in pigs consists of an acute infection with viremia lasting for approximately 1 month, followed by a persistent infection of secondary lymphoid tissues that lasts for several months (Murtaugh et al., 2002). The main target for PRRSV infection *in vivo* is porcine alveolar macrophages (PAM) and the virus also replicates in macrophages of different tissues (Collins et al., 1992; Rossow et al., 1995; Sur et al., 1997; Rossow et al., 1998). In PRRSV infection of pigs, alveolar macrophages are the primary target in acute infection, but the virus is also found in macrophages throughout the body, including secondary lymphoid tissues (Lawson et al., 1997). The virus initiates an infection in pigs via entry through nasal epithelial cells, tonsil cells, and alveolar macrophages. PRRSV replicates in these cells, causes viremia, and subsequent rhinitis, pneumonia, myocarditis, vasculitis, encephalitis and lymphadenophy (Rossow et al., 1996). The virus infects all parts of its host animal, including muscles, blood, organs, and lymphoid tissues (Rossow et al., 1995; Rossow 1996; Rossow et al., 1998). Using in situ hybridization and immunochemistry, the virus antigen and RNA has been detected in macrophages of multiple tissues, monocytes, endothelial cells, muscle cells, and fibroblast cells (Sur et al., 1997). The virus spreads locally from the initially infected macrophage cells to adjacent cells and its systemic spread occurs through blood and lymphoid fluid (Rossow 1998). PRRSV can cause persistent infection in pigs (Albina et al., 1994; Christopher-Hennings et al 1995). Pigs persistently infected with PRRSV can transmit the virus to naïve pigs by direct or indirect contact (Albina et al., 1994, Chrisopher-Hennings 2001). Since macrophages are the main antigen presenting cells,

4

PRRSV replication in macrophages exacerbates the pig's susceptibility to other etiological agents, and reduces the pig's ability to respond to vaccination (Done and Paton, 1999).

#### **1.2** Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus (PRRSV)

#### **1.2.1 PRRSV Introduction**

PRRSV is a small, enveloped RNA virus with a particle size ranging from 50 to 80 nm (Conzelmann et al., 1993; Meulenberg et al., 1993a). PRRSV is classified as a member of the family *Arteriviridae* (Meulenberg et al., 1993a) based on its genome properties, morphology, and virus replication strategy. Viruses in this family also include equine arteritis virus (EAV), lactate dehydrogenase-elevating virus (LDV) of mice, and simian hemorrhagic fever virus (SHFV) (Plagemannet et al., 1992; Meulenberg et al., 1994). PRRSV isolates are more closely related to LDV than to EAV (Meng et al., 1995; Meulenberg et al., 1993b). One primary feature of viruses in this family is their replication in macrophages, persistent infections in their natural host, and constant antigenic variation in field isolates (Rossow KD, 1998).

The antigenic variation among PRRSV isolates was initially demonstrated between Europe and North American isolates using polyclonal antisera (Nelson et al., 1993) and monoclonal antibodies (Nelson et al., 1993; Drew et al., 1995; Dea et al., 1996; Magar et al., 1997; Zhang et al., 1998). Genomic sequence analyses of the PRRSV isolates from different regions worldwide indicate the existence of two distinct genotypes, type I European (the prototype is Lelystad virus) and Type II North American (the prototype is ATCC VR-2332) (Meng et al., 1994; Mardassi et al., 1994; Meng et al., 1995). North American and European isolates were found to have about 67% homology at nucleotide sequence level (Meng et al., 1995). Sequence analysis of the isolates from the recent PRRS outbreaks in China indicated that the highly virulent variants belong to the North American genotype but have 30 amino acids deletion in the NSP2 (Tian et al., 2007).

#### **1.2.2** Genome Structure, Expression and Replication

Like other members in *Arteriviridae* family, PRRSV contains a linear, positivesense, and single-stranded RNA genome. For viruses with a positive-sense viral RNA (+ vRNA), +vRNA serve as both genomic RNA and messenger RNA for expression of viral proteins. Thus, the reproduction of the Arterivirus genomic RNA is a combined process of genome replication and mRNA translation. Genomic RNA synthesis is completed through the intermediate full-length negative sense RNA.

The genome of PRRSV is about 15 kb in length and has a cap structure at its 5' end and a poly (A) tail at its 3' end (Meng et al., 1994; Meulenberg et al., 1993a). The genome contains at least nine ORFs (Figure 1-1). The genome organization starts with the 5' untranslated region (UTR), followed by nine open reading frames (ORF1a, ORF1b, ORF2a, ORF2b, and ORFs 3-7) and 3' UTR (Meng et al., 1994; Meulenberg et al., 1993a). ORFs 1a and 1b are located at the 5' end of the genome and comprise about 80% of the genome (Godney et al., 1993; Meulenberg et al, 1993a). ORF1a and ORF1ab

encode viral replicase and expressed from genomic RNA as a polyprotein (Pedersen et al., 1999). The polyprotein is proteolytically processed to at least 13 mature nonstructural proteins (NSPs) by virus-encoded proteases (Meulenberg et al., 1993a; Pedersen et al., 1999). Some of NSPs are known to be involved in virus replication (Meulenberg et al., 1993a), but detailed biological functions of each individual NSP remains to be determined.

The remaining seven smaller ORFs (2, 2a, and 3-7) are located at the 3' end of the genome and encode structural proteins (Meulenberg et al., 1995). ORFs 2, 2a, 3, and 4 encode minor membrane-associated proteins GP2, E, GP3, and GP4 (Meng et al., 1995; Wu et al., 2001). ORFs 5, 6, and 7 encode major envelope glycoprotein (GP5), membrane protein (M) and nucleocapsid protein (N) (Meulenberg et al., 1995; Meng et al., 1995). Recently, a non-glycosylated structural protein was identified and expressed from an ORF2b (Snijder et al., 1999). The small ORF2b is completely embedded within ORF2a (Wu et al., 2001). The proteins from ORFs 2-7 are all translated from subgenomic mRNAs (Figure 1.1). These subgenomic RNAs contain a common leader sequence from the 5' end of viral genome and identical 3' terminal sequence preceding poly-(A) tails (Sawicki et al., 1995; van Marle et al., 1999).



Figure 1-1. Genome organization of PRRSV. The replicase gene, locating at the 5' end of genome and consisting of two overlap ORFs 1a and 1b, encodes a polyprotein that is cleaved to form 12 non-structural proteins (NSP 1-12). ORFs 2 to 5 encode glycoproteins GP2 to GP5; ORF6 encodes the membrane protein M; and ORF7 encodes the nucleocapsid protein N. The small internal ORF2b is completely embedded within ORF2a. The proteins from ORFs 2-7 are all expressed from six-nested set of subgenomic mRNAs. These subgenomic RNAs contain a common leader sequence derived (thin blue box) from the 5'end of viral genome and identical 3' terminal sequence preceding poly-(A) tails. Leader TRS (Transcription regulatory sequence; thick red box); Body TRS (thick blue box); RFS (Ribosomal frameshifting; purple circle)

In PRRSV-infected cells, virus replication cycle starts with the expression of the replicase gene (ORF1a and ORF1b) from viral genome RNA. ORF1b translation requires a ribosomal frameshift just before ORF1a translation is terminated. The ORF1a/ORF1b overlap region contains signals that promote this frameshift (Snijder et

al., 1998). At least six to eight subgenomic RNAs are formed (Meulenberg et al., 1993a; Meng et al., 1996b; Conzelman et al., 1993.) All of the subgenomic RNAs have an identical 5'-leader sequence derived from the 5' end of genomic RNA and identical 3' terminal sequence preceding poly-(A) tails of variable length. These co-terminal subgenomic mRNAs are generated through a discontinuous subgenomic mRNA synthesis mechanism that is proposed for coronavirus (van den Born et al., 2005). PRRSV subgenomic RNAs are polycistronic in structure, but it is believed that only the first open reading frame (ORF) of each subgenomic RNA is translated into a viral protein (Meng et al., 1996b).

The entire genomic 5' UTR is present in all subgenomic mRNAs of PRRSV. The length of 5'UTR is 190nt for American PRRSV strains (Nelsen et al., 1999) and 221nt for European PRRSV (Meulenberg et al., 1995). The 3' UTR of North American and European PRRSV strains are 150 and 120 bases, respectively (Meng et al., 1994).

#### **1.2.3 PRRSV Growth Characteristics In Vitro**

In vitro, PRRSV can replicate in African green monkey kidney cell MA-104 and cells derived from MA-104, such as CL2621, MARC145, and CRL11171, and porcine alveolar macrophages (PAM) (Yoon at al., 1992, Bautista et al 1993; Kim HS et al., 1993; Meng et al., 1996). CRL11171 and MARC-145 cells, as PRRSV-permissive cell lines, have been extensively used to study the growth characteristics of PRRSV. Previous studies have established that PRRSV replication in cultured CRL11171 or MARC-145 cells follows a complex time-course. PRRSV proteins can be detected by

immunofluorescence assay between 10-20 h post-infection and emergence of cytopathic effect (CPE) usually occurs over the next 1-3 days (Meng et al., 1996). The typical CPE of PRRSV in macrophage and cell lines is characterized by cell rounding and detachment from culture surface. In the multiple –step growth curve, the maximum release of PRRSV virions is about 48-72 h post infection and the maximum virus titers in cell culture are about  $10^{6.5}$  -  $10^{7.5}$  TCID<sub>50</sub>/ml for cell-adapted PRRSV strains and about  $10^{5.0}$  to  $10^{6.0}$ TCID<sub>50</sub>/ml for their parental wild type VR2332 viruses (Kim WI et al., 2008). Similar maximum virus titers are obtained from one -step growth curve at about 20 to 24 h postinfection (Cafruny WA et al., 2006; Kim WI et al., 2008). In general, the cell adapted vaccine strains grow more efficiently than VR2332 wild-type viruses in CRL11171 and MARC-145 cells (Kim WI et al., 2008). The cell adapted vaccine strains grow fast and produce relatively large plaques with a diameter of more than 4 mm on average, while their parental VR2332 wild type yielded small-sized plaques with a diameter of less than 1.0 mm on average. The difference in growth phenotypic characteristics in MARC-145 cells could be used to differentiate an attenuated vaccine virus from wild type isolates.

The replication cycles of PRRSV in the target cell include the following steps: attachment, entry, genome release, replication, translation, and assembly. After attachment, the PRRSV enters the host cell via the standard endocytosis process. Confocal microscopy showed the labeled PRRSV in clathrin-coated pits (Kreutz et al., 1996). Once inside the cell, the virus-containing endosome releases the virus genome. At present, how the viral genome is released into the cytoplasm remains to be determined. The conformational changes in viral envelop glycoprotein and capsid protein in low pH condition inside the endosome are speculated to trigger this process. PRRSV is assembled when nucleocapsids bud into the lumen of the smooth endoplasmic reticulum and/or Golgi region. After budding, virions accumulate in vesicles that move to the plasma membrane to release the virus.

Tests using infectious full-length RNA transcript, showed that the virus replication occurred in several non-permissive cell lines but no infectious particles were generated (Meumenburg et al., 1998). This result indicates receptor (s) on the cell surface is required for PRRSV infection. Investigations of PRRSV receptors have identified several putative molecules that can assist the virus attachment, entry and replication in non-permissive cells. Heparan sulfate was identified to be a PRRSV receptor on macrophages and mediate virus attachment, and the viral matrix protein was shown to be a heparan-binding protein, suggesting its potential role as a viral ligand for heparan sulfate (Delputte, P. L et al 2001; Vanderheijden NP et al., 2001). Heparan sulfate as an attachment factor is involved in the binding of PRRSV but is not required for internalization (Delputte PL et al., 2005). Sialoadhesin was also identified as an essential PRRSV receptor that mediates both attachment and internalization on macrophages (Delputte PL et al., 2002; Vanderheijden N et al., 2003; Delputte PL et al., 2004a; Delputte PL et al., 2006). Internalization may be facilitated by sialoadhesin, a 210- or 220- kDa membrane glycoprotein and a sialic acid binding immunoglobulin like lectin (Vanderheijden N et al., 2003). A mAb that blocks PRRSV infection of MARC-145 cells was shown to recognize a complex of cytoskeletal proteins (Kim JK et al., 2006), and an intact cytoskeleton was critical for efficient infection of MARC-145 cells

(Cafruny WL et al., 2006). Simian vimentin was identified to be a part of the PRRSV receptor complex (Kim JK et al., 2006). CD163 is a cellular protein that belongs to the scavenger receptor cystine-rich superfamily. This cellular protein was shown to be a receptor for PRRSV infection, and transient expression of CD163 in a variety of non-permissive cell lines was sufficient to render these cell lines fully permissive to PRRSV infection and production of progeny virus (Clavert JG et al., 2007). Another cellular protein termed CD151 was also shown to be involved in PRRSV replication and the interaction of viral RNA with CD151 was related to the PRRSV infectivity (Shanmukhappa K et al., 2007).

### **1.3** Immune Response to PRRSV Infection

#### **1.3.1 Humoral Immune Response**

The humoral immune response to PRRSV infection was evaluated by determining PRRSV- specific IgM and IgG antibody levels in serum. Figure 1-2 shows the events of host immune response after PRRSV infection of immune-competent pigs. In general, PRRSV-specific IgM and IgG antibodies were detected approximately 5 to 14 days post infection (Christianson et al., 1992), but the development of virus neutralizing (VN) antibody against PRRSV was delayed to 21 to 28 days after infection (Lopez and Osorio 2004), indicating that the humoral immunity is dysregulated after PRRSV infection (Mulupuri et al., 2008). PRRSV viremia lasts about one month in pigs after the virus infection. Thus the neutralizing antibody has limited role, if any, in the clearance of

viremia. It is not clear what protective immune response is responsible for the clearance of the viremia.



Figure 1-2: Immune response after infection of a pig with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. (Adapted from Lopez OJ and Osorio FA, 2004, *Vet Immunology and Immunopathology*, 102: 155-163).

The N protein is highly immunogenic (Christianson et al., 1992; Nelson et al., 1993) and antibody against the N protein developed earlier than antibody to other structural proteins. However, N protein does not have virus neutralizing activity (Nelson et al., 1993; Yoon et al., 1995). *In vitro* expressed N protein appears to be more suitable for diagnostic tests. MAbs directed against the 15 kDa N protein were used to determine the functional epitopes and antigenic variation (Zhang et al., 1998). Antibodies to GP3, GP4, GP5, and M protein were reported to have neutralizing activity, indicating that these proteins are involved in PRRSV attachment or entry to host cells (Loemba et al., 1996; Delputte et al., 2004b). Neutralizing epitopes on GP3, GP4, GP5, and M protein have

been identified using a panel of mAbs (Yang et al., 2000). The mAb to the GP5 was found to be more effective in virus neutralization than monoclonal antibodies to the GP4 (Weiland et al., 1999). GP5, as a major envelope protein and the primary target of neutralizing antibody, is heavily glycosylated in the amino-terminal portion of its ectodomain and forms a hetero-dimer with protein M (Lopez and Osorio 2004). At least two main neutralizing epitopes in the GP5 were mapped to locate at the amino-terminal portion of the protein: the neutralizing epitope A is between amino acid 27 and 31 and the neutralizing epitope B compromises amino acid 37-44 (Ostrowski et al., 2002).

PRRSV antigen specific B-cell response was recently characterized in experimentally infected pigs with a focus on NSP2, N and GP5 proteins (Mulupuri et al., 2008). The IgM response to NSP2 and N protein was detected at day 3, peaked by day 7 and then rapidly decreased to undetectable levels by day 21 (Mulupuri et al., 2008). In contrast, IgM response to GP5 ectodomain epitopes (GP5 3') was minimal and no increase in IgM level was observed within 56 days post-infection. IgM response to GP5 ectodomains (GP5 5') was substantially delayed by 2 weeks, peaked at 21 to 28 days, and even persisted for about 50 days (Mulupuri et al., 2008).

NSP2 specific IgG response was detected at day 7, reached maximum level at about day 35, and remained high thereafter. Similar specific IgG response was observed for N protein, but the anti-N IgG level quickly decreased after day 35. The PRRSV neutralizing IgG response to GP5 3' and GP5 5' was detected at 21 days after infection, peaked at day 35, and remained relative high thereafter (Mulupuri et al., 2008). The delayed neutralizing IgG response was not correlated with the level of viral antigens, a high level of viremia was present 3 days after infection and remained high for about 2 weeks. Viral antigens were actively produced for an extended period of 3 to 4 weeks. The role of neutralizing antibodies (NA) in protection against PRRSV is under debate. Passive transfer of NA at high dose was observed to confer protection against PRRSV challenge (Osorio et al. 2002). However, other studies showed that the production of NA after an experimental infection or vaccination is low and sporadic with considerable individual variability (Loemba et al., 1996; Meier et al., 2003). Clearance of viremia was also found before a high level of NA developed (Diaz et al., 2005).

#### **1.3.2** Cellular Mediated Immune Response (CMI)

For viral infection, typical CMI response involves antigen-specific activation and expansion of CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells in draining lymph nodes, followed by trafficking specific cytotoxic lymphocytes back to the infection sites to kill the infected cells (Jenkins et al., 2001). PRRSV infections also trigger CMI, but the distribution of PRRSV-specific T cells in peripheral blood varied substantially over time and among animals and the levels of PRRSV specific T-cells and macrophage recruitment in infected pigs were found to be independent of virus load (Xiao et al., 2004). In acute infection, PRRSV-specific (IFN $\gamma$ -secreting) T cells were detected in PBMC at day 14 p.i, peaked at day 28 p.i. and declined thereafter (Xiao et al., 2004). The antigen-specific T-cell response at sites of infection was highly variable, weak, and independent of the local viral load, appeared transiently at 4 to 8 weeks after infection (Lopez et al., 1999), but became more pronounced based on the IFN- $\gamma$  response (Meier et al., 2003). Inductions of virus specific T-lymphocytes response in pigs infected by PRRSV were found mainly directed to the M, GP2, and GP5 protein (Zuckerman et al., 1998).

In addition to the absence of a correlation between viral load and responding T cells in sites of infection, there was no apparent effect of PRRSV on local T-cell populations. The proportions of CD4<sup>+</sup>, CD8<sup>+</sup>, and CD4<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells were not altered by PRRSV infection in lung, blood, or lymphoid tissues (Xiao et al., 2004). These results suggest that a weak and irregular CMI response contributes to prolonged PRRSV infection and that PRRSV suppresses T-cell recognition of infected macrophages (Meier et al., 2003; Xiao et al., 2004). Humoral and cell-mediated immunity is induced in due course, and results in clearance of the virus from circulation but not from lymphoid tissues where the infection becomes persistent. Subsequent re-exposure to PRRSV elicits an anamnestic response that is partially to completely protective.

## 1.4 PRRSV Antigenic and Genetic Variations

#### 1.4.1 Antigenic Variations

The reactivity of mAbs against GP3, GP4, GP5, and N proteins of European and American PRRSV isolates revealed antigenic difference not only between the US and European isolates but also among different European or US isolates (Katz et al., 1995; Nelson et al., 1993; Zhang et al., 1998). Antigenic variation was detected between an isolate and its progeny after in vivo passages, indicating a high mutation rate during PRRSV replication in its natural host. Due to a lack of proofreading activity by the RNA dependent RNA polymerase, like other RNA viruses, PRRSV has high mutation rates during virus replication.

#### **1.4.2 Genetic Variations**

Full-length gene sequence analysis of PRRSV isolates has identified genetic variation between North American and European PRRSV isolates on both genes encoding structural proteins (Meng et al 1995; Murtaugh et al., 1995; Nelsen et al., 1999) and non-structural proteins (Allende et al., 1999). The N protein was found to be the most conserved viral protein with 70 to 80% identity between the North American and European isolates (Meng et al 1994; Meng et al, 1995). While GP5 protein is the most variable structural protein with only 51-55% amino acid identity between North American and European isolates. The amino acid sequence homology of ORF2, 3, and 4 was about 76, 72, and 64%, respectively. The NSP2 was found to have the highest variations. The NSP2 of North American isolates is 102 amino acids longer and share only about 30% identity when compared to the European prototype LV strain (Nelsen et al., 1999; Allende et al., 1999). Extensive sequence analysis of multiple isolates from current pandemic in China also confirmed that the highly pathogenic variants belong to the North American genotype but have a discontinuous 30 amino acids deletion in the NSP2 (Tian et al., 2007).

Efforts to identify virulence determinants of PRRSV began by comparing protein sequences between virulent and their cell-adapted avirulent strains. The mutation or deletion in the viral gene(s) may contribute to PRRSV attenuation. However, these

17

changes may not necessarily represent the true mutation *in vivo*. Many of these mutations may just reflect the necessary adaptation to grow in susceptible cell lines. The development of infectious clones for PRRSV greatly facilitates the understanding of the molecular basis of PRRSV virulence.

### 1.5 Infectious cDNA Clones: Reverse Genetics System

Reverse genetics is a powerful molecular tool to understand the molecular determinants related to virus attenuation, tissue tropism, and virulence factor(s). Reverse genetics is defined as a process of generating a recombinant virus from a cloned complimentary DNA (cDNA) copy of a viral genome. For viruses with a positive-sense viral RNA (+ vRNA), +vRNA is infectious and can serve as mRNA and initiate virus replication using cellular RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp). Therefore, transfecting full-length +vRNA or DNA plasmids containing cDNA of complete viral genomes into susceptible cells result in the recovery of infectious viruses. This system allows researchers to genetically manipulate the viral genome (Calvert et al., 2002; Nielsen et al., 2003).

For PRRSV, the first infectious clone was established for European Lelystad virus (Meulenberg et al., 1998). Later, infectious clones were also developed for North American prototype VR-2322 strain and other isolates (Calvert et al., 2002, Nielsen et al., 2003; Troung et al., 2004). Transfection of RNA transcripts from the full-length cDNA clone into BHK-21 or MARC-145 cells, infectious viruses were produced and further

propagated in PAMs or MARC-145 cells. The BHK-21 cells were initially used due to the high efficiency in transfection compared to CL2621 cells or other PRRSV susceptible cell lines. Although PRRSV cannot enter BHK-21 cells, once the genomic RNA is introduced into these cells, the virus is produced and can be amplified in a PRRSV permissive cell line (Troung et al., 2004). In addition, direct inoculation of full-length RNA transcript into the pig lymph node and tonsils was demonstrated to produce infectious PRRSV (Key et al., 2007). Using the infectious clone, the N protein dimerization was found to be essential for viral infectivity (Lee et al., 2004). Various deleted mutants of PRRSV at the ORF2, ORF4 or NSP2 genes were also generated from infectious clones and evaluated as potential marker vaccine candidates (Calvert et al., 2003; Welch et al., 2004; Han et al., 2007), or develop recombinant vaccine strains that could offer cross-protection to various genetically diversified PRRSV strains (Yuan et al., 2008) or construction of marker vaccines that contain the specific sequence tag to distinguish the vaccinated pigs from naturally infected ones (Kim W et al., 2008). Using infection clones, various chimeric recombinants between modified live vaccine (MLV) and its parental wild type virus were also produced to identify the corresponding genetic determinants related to virulence and other different phenotypes such as plaque size and cell adaptation (Kim W et al., 2008).

#### **1.6 Diagnosis, Prevention and Control**

#### 1.6.1 Diagnosis

Early detection and quick identification of infected herds are the key elements to a PRRS control and eradication program. Active serum surveillance and public awareness programs are valuable in early detection of infection.

A diagnosis of PRRS acute clinical outbreaks in fully susceptible herds is based on the clinical signs and gross pathological findings in affected pigs. However, a confirmed laboratory diagnosis of PRRS is generally considered to have been established when PRRSV is identified in samples submitted from presumed cases of the disease (Mengeling et al 2000; Christopher-Hennings et al 2002). Selection and submission of appropriate samples is the key to a successful diagnosis of PRRSV infection (Christopher-Hennings et al 2002). Laboratory diagnosis can be achieved by detecting PRRSV antigens in affected pigs by immunostaining or viral RNA in situ hybridization and polymerase chain reaction (Sagar, 1993; Prieto and Castro 2005).

Indirect immunofluorescence (IFA), indirect immunoperoxidase monolayer assays (IPMA) and enzyme-linked- immunosorbent assays (ELISA) are the serologic tests used most often to detect and quantitate antibody (Christopher-Hennings et al 2002). Immunohistochemistry and immunofluorescence are useful tests for detecting PRRSV antigens in tissues obtained from infected pigs (Mengeling et al., 2000). Lung is the tissue of choice for viral antigen and RNA detection. Laboratory diagnosis by virus isolation is also used but it is time consuming and expensive (Rossow 1998). For a herd of swine that is vaccinated with a modified live PRRSV vaccine, diagnosis is more difficult because the serological test cannot differentiate immune response from vaccination or infection with wild type virus.

The most commonly used test for strain identification is RT-PCR amplification of ORF5 gene, followed by restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) analysis and nucleic acid sequencing (Mengeling et al., 1999, Umthun et al., 1999). ORF4, ORF6, and NSP2 genes can also be used for amplification and digestion (Han et al, 2007, Kim et al., 2008). Base sequencing often involves additional segments of the viral genome in addition to ORF5. Panels of monoclonal antibodies have also been used to provide presumptive strain identification (Yang et al., 2000). Quantitative real time RT-PCR is also commonly used for detection and confirmation North American-like or European-like PRRSV from boar semen and serum samples (Wasilka et al., 2004)

#### **1.6.2** Prevention and Control

Because of severe economic losses associated with PRRS, various attempts are being made to control and eliminate the disease. Vaccination, production management, and biosecurity protocols have not been fully effective (Goyal D., 1993). This was probably due to the features of PRRSV such as persistence of infection, strain variation, transplacental infection, and various routes of excretion and transmission. (Meng et al., 2000). Though not all routes of virus introduction into a naïve herd are completely understood at this time, the primary source of infection is the infected pig. Therefore, it

21

is critical to routinely isolate and test breeding stock before introducing them to a PRRSnegative herd. Replacement stock to be added to naïve herds should be obtained from known negative sources that carry out a regular schedule of herd monitoring (Prieto and Castro 2005).

One principle of PRRS control is the reduction of virus spread among animals within a herd and between herds (Beltran-Alcrudo et al., 2007). Early removal of infected animals from the herd is an effective way of limiting the spread of the disease. Restriction of replacement animals is very critical for the control PRRS. Quarantine, biosecurity, and movement controls should be imposed on all farms with known or suspected infection. Recently, a model for the control of PRRS that focuses on the elimination of subpopulations was developed (Beltran-Alcrudo et al., 2007). The model includes: (1) understanding the pattern of viral spread through the application of population-based diagnostic strategies; (2) proper containment of replacement stock prior to introduction into PRRS-infected herds; (3) prevention of virus transmission from sow to piglet through breeding-herd stabilization; and (4) control of the virus spread in the nursery or finisher populations through weaned-pig management (Beltran-Alcrudo et al., 2007).

The sanitary precautions that are applied to prevent the spread of most swine infectious diseases must be rigorously used in the case of PRRS. Environmental stress and management are also the factors to be considered when developing preventive programs.

22

### 1.6.3 Vaccination

Both inactivated and modified-live attenuated virus vaccines (MLV) for PRRSV are available in the market (Nelson et al., 1997, Beltran-Alcrudo et al., 2007; Mulupuri et al., 2008). *In vivo* challenge studies indicate that the vaccine with the American strain does not protect against infection from European type PRRSV (van Woensel et al., 1998). An attenuated virus vaccine is generally believed to be more effective compared to the killed vaccine. Several studies also establish that vaccination is more effective against a homologous strain than against a heterologous strain (van Woensel et al., 1998). In U.S., the MLV vaccine, Ingelvac PRRS MLV produced by Boehringer Ingelheim, has been used in piglets from 3 weeks of age or in sows and gilts 3-6 weeks prior to breeding.

The MLV vaccine can be of value in preventing and controlling PRRS, but reversion of MLV to virulent phenotype is one of the major safety concerns (Opriessnig et al., 2002). Pigs inoculated with MLV vaccines also shed the vaccine strain which they can transmit from vaccinated pigs to naïve pigs (Mengeling et al., 1998). The persistent shedding and dissemination of the vaccine virus in semen was also demonstrated in boars (Christopher-Hennings et al., 1997). In addition, the occurrence of acute PRRS-like illness was reported in sows after vaccination with a MLV vaccine (Botner et al., 1997; Meng et al., 2000). Transmission and persistence of MLV in the field make it more complex to identify wild-type virus infection both through virology and serology (Zimmerman et al, 2006). Although vaccines, especially those that are attenuated, have been used for years, there are still some outbreaks of PRRS with the strains whose sequence is nearly identical to the vaccine strain (Opriessnig, Halbur et al. 2002). Occurrence of atypical or acute PRRS-like disease in MLV-vaccinated animals has raised concern about the efficacy and safety of the MLV vaccines (Meng et al., 2000; Meng 2006a). Therefore, alternative approaches to control or inhibit PRRSV infection and transmission are needed.

The best option to control PRRS is to eliminate PRRSV spread from swine farms. The high mutation rate of PRRSV replication and high prevalence of PRRSV infection in swine farms are challenging for the current vaccine that is based on a single strain. The long viremia and late generation of neutralizing antibody add further complexity since the protective immune response in PRRSV-infected pigs is less clear (Fig. 1-2). An efficacious vaccine with broadly protective capability is not available in the near future though it is needed urgently. Under such scenario, novel antiviral drugs to inhibit PRRSV replication are welcome options to complement other strategies for PRRS prevention and control. One of these options would be to use PRRSV-specific and efficacious antiviral compounds like PPMO. PPMO is a novel type of antisense compound, and has been shown to effectively inhibit PRRSV replication *in vitro* (Zhang et al., 2006; Patel et al., 2008). In this study, we evaluated the effect of combining multiple PPMO specific for PRRSV sequence on the inhibition of PRRSV replication in cell culture and defined the mechanism of the inhibition by PPMO combination.

# 1.7 Phosphorodiamidate Morpholino Oligomers (PMOs) As a Novel Antiviral Agent

The ability of virus-specific antisense oligonucleotides to inhibit viral replication by interfering with translation of viral RNAs was first demonstrated in 1978 (Zamecnik and Stephenson, 1978; Stephenson and Zamecnik 1978). Since then, remarkable progress has been made by modifying oligonucleotides to increase their stability, affinity, and delivery into cells (Kurreck 2003). PMO is a new generation of antisense agents modified to include a phosphorodiamidate linkage and morpholine ring. PMO is structurally similar to single-stranded DNA in that each subunit includes a purine or pyramidine base (Fig 1-3). In PMO, each base is joined to a novel backbone consisting of one morpholine ring and phosphorodiamidate linkage per subunit (Summerton, 1999; Summerton and Weller, 1997). PMO is uncharged, water-soluble, and highly resistant to nuclease degradation (Hudziak et al., 1996). PMO binds to target mRNA by Watson-Crick base pairing and exerts an antisense effect by preventing access to critical segments of RNA sequence, such as a translation initiation site, through steric blockade. This is a distinctly different process from the RNase H-dependent mechanism induced by the often-used antisense structural type phosphorothioate DNA (Summerton, 1999).

PMO can effectively and specifically block translation of target mRNA *in vitro* and *in vivo* via intravenous, intraperitoneal, subcutaneous, transdermal or oral administration (Arora et al., 2002a; Arora et al., 2002b). In addition, PMO conjugates with short arginine-rich cell penetrating peptides have displayed a higher efficiency in

delivering the PMO into cultured cells (Moulton et al., 2004; Deas et al., 2005). This peptide-conjugated PMO (PPMO) has been found to be fairly stable in cells and human serum for at least 24 h (Youngblood et al., 2007). PPMO sequence-specific antiviral effect in cell culture system have been reported for SARS coronavirus (Neumann et al., 2005), EAV (van den Born et al., 2005), flavivirus (Deas et al., 2005; Kinney et al., 2005), Influenza A virus (Ge et al., 2006), and Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (Zhang et al., 2007). Recently, PPMO has also been applied *in vivo* and shown protection of animals against Ebola Virus (Enterlein et al., 2006), Coxsackievirus B3 (Yuan et al., 2006), and murine coronaviruses (Burrer et al., 2007).

Several PMOs targeted at the 5' terminal region of PRRSV genome have been shown to be effective in inhibiting PRRSV replication in cells in a sequence-specific and dose-dependent manner (Zhang et al., 2006; Patel et al., 2008). PPMO targeted at the translation initiation region of PRRSV ORF6 and ORF7 have also been demonstrated to inhibit PRRSV replication (Patel et al., 2008). Application of these potential PPMO antivirals could yield significant economic benefits to the swine industry, especially for breeding farms, by helping to control and eliminate PRRSV infection.



Figure 1-3: Structure of PPMO. A morpholine ring and a phosphorodiamidate linkage in PMO replace the deoxyribose and phosphodiester linkage of DNA, respectively. "B" represents the bases A, G, C, or T. An arginine-rich peptide (RXR)<sub>4</sub>XB is covalently conjugated to the 5' end of PMO.
# **1.8 Research Objectives**

The main goal of this research is to understand the effect of combining multiple PPMO specific for PRRSV sequence on the inhibition of PRRSV replication *in vitro*. The specific objectives are to: (1) Assess the effect of various PPMO combinations in inhibiting PRRSV replication in cell culture, 2) Determine the effect of the PPMO combination in cross strain inhibition against heterologous PRRSV strains *in vitro*, and (3) Define the PPMO inhibition effect at PRRSV RNA level and gene expression (protein level).

# **CHAPTER 2: MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### 2.1 Cells and Viruses

CRL11171 (ATCC) cell line was grown in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) containing 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 100 U/ml penicillin and 2mM Lglutamine. The CRL11171 cells were passaged twice weekly in T-25 flask. For routine viral infection and transfection experiments, a monolayer of CRL11171 cells ( $\approx$  80% confluency) was maintained in DMEM containing 2% FBS and incubated at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> after infection or transfection. Trypan blue exclusion method was used to assess the cell viability. The cell numbers were counted using a hemocytometer under an inverted light microscope.

The following PRRSV strains were used in the experiment. ATCC VR2385 (Meng et al., 1996a), and Lelystad (Meulenberg et al., 1993a) were used to inoculate CRL11171 cells at multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 0.5 for PPMO testing. Other PRRSV strains used to test cross strain effect include FL-12, 11604, 16138, 16224B, 17041, 14680, 12773, 13909 and Ingelvac MLV (Patel et al, 2008).

#### 2.2 Determination of Virus Titer

Virus titers were determined from the median end point of tissue culture infectious dose (TCID<sub>50</sub>). For virus titration, serially diluted virus samples from  $10^{-1}$  to  $10^{-6}$  were added to CRL11171 cells in a 96-well plate. Four replicate wells were used for each dilution. The cultures in 96-well plates were incubated for 48 hours at 37°C after

inoculation, and the  $TCID_{50}$  were obtained by counting the number of wells with cytopathic effect (CPE) microscopically. The typical CPEs in PRRSV-infected CRL11171 cells include cell rounding, clumping and detachment, compared to the control cells.  $TCID_{50}$  value per milliliter was calculated according to the method of Reed and Muench as described previously (Zhang et al., 2006).

# 2.3 Indirect Immunofluorescence Assay (IFA)

The CRL11171 cells growing on glass coverslips in a 12-well plate were mock infected or infected with PRRSV at an MOI of 0.5, and incubated at 37°C. About 24 hours post-infection, the cells were washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), and then fixed with acetone and methanol (1:1, 1ml) for 15 min at room temperature. The fixed cells were washed once with PBS (pH 7.4) and incubated with 100  $\mu$ l of a PRRSV N-specific monoclonal antibody at 37°C for 45 min in a humid chamber. Unbound antibody was removed by washing with PBS three times. After final wash, the cells were incubated with 100  $\mu$ l of 1:100 dilution of fluorescein-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG fluorescein-isothiocyanate (FITC) conjugate (Sigma, St Louis, MO) for 45 min at 37°C. Then the cells were washed three times to rinse out unbound FITC-conjugated antibody. After final wash, the cells in cover glass were mounted and examined by florescence microscopy.

# 2.4 **PPMO Synthesis**

PPMO were synthesized by AVI BioPharma Inc (Corvallis, OR), according to the methods described by Summerton and Water in 1997. A random sequence PMO with no homology with the PRRSV or primate mRNA sequence was also included in this study. This control PPMO was called CP1 and used as a control for any non-sequence-specific activity of the PPMO chemistry.

Arginine-rich peptide  $[NH_2-(RXR)_4XB-COOH]$ , where X stands for 6aminohexanoic acids, R stands for arginine, and B stands for  $\beta$ -alanine, was covalently conjugated at 5' end of each PMO (Figure 2-1). The conjugation chemistry, PPMO purification and analysis were also performed at AVI BioPharma Inc according to the procedure detailed in the publications by Abes et al., 2006 and Moulton et al., 2004.

Prior to use in the designed experiments, the lyophilized PPMO was resuspended and diluted with sterilized water to a stock with a final concentration of 2 mM. The stocks were stored at 4°C. The PPMO were further diluted to the working concentrations in DMEM as indicated in the PPMO treatment experiments.

#### 2.5 PPMO Treatment of CRL11171 Cells

The PPMO treatment of CRL11171 cells was performed in 12-well plates as previous described (Zhang et al., 2006). About  $5 \times 10^5$  cells/well were seeded in a 12-well plate and incubated overnight at 37° C. Prior to the PPMO treatment, confluent

monolayer of CRL11171 cells (~ 90% confluency) in 12-well plate were inoculated with PRRSV (VR2385) at a MOI of 0.5 and incubated at 37° C for 2 hours. After 2-hour infection, the inoculum was removed and the cells were rinsed with serum-free DMEM. PPMO was diluted to the desired concentrations in DMEM and added to the PRRSVinfected cells. Then the cells were incubated at 37°C for 4 hours. DMEM without PPMO was used as a mock treatment control and PPMO CP1 was also included as a negative control. At 4 hours after incubation, the medium was removed from the negative control, mock treatment control, and PPMO-treatment cells. The cells were rinsed with serum-free DMEM and maintenance medium (DMEM supplemented with 2%FBS) was added. The cells were then incubated at 37°C for 48 hours. After incubation, both supernatant and cells were harvested for further analysis.

In addition to PPMO combination treatment, various PRRSV strains were also included following the same inoculation and incubation procedure as described for VR2385 strain. The purpose of the experiment was to evaluate cross strain inhibition effects of PPMO combinations on replication of various PRRSV strains.

#### 2.6 RNA Isolation

Total RNA was extracted from PRRSV-infected CRL11171 cells and PPMO treated cells by TRIzol<sup>®</sup> Reagent (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) following the manufacturer's instruction. After removal of the supernatant, the cells in 12-well plate were lysed by addition of 500  $\mu$ L of TRIzol<sup>®</sup>-Reagent. CP1 or mock- treated cells were also included as controls. For quantitative RT-PCR analysis, the purified RNA was

treated with RNase-free DNase to remove any DNA carry-over during the RNA isolation. The RNA was quantified using  $\mu$ Quant<sup>TM</sup> Universal Microplate spectrophotometer (BioTek Instruments, Winooski, Vermont). The RNA was kept in diethyl pyrocarbonatetreated water (DEPC-H<sub>2</sub>O) and stored at -80°C for real-time RT-PCR analysis.

#### 2.7 Real-Time RT-PCR (Reverse transcription-PCR)

The viral RNA levels in the PRRSV infected CRL11171 cells and PPMO treated cells were analyzed by quantitative real-time RT-PCR. First, the cDNA synthesis was performed using the random primer and performed in a total of volume of 25 µl reaction as reported previously (Patel et al., 2008). Typically, extracted RNA sample ( $\approx$ 1.0 µg) was first heat-denatured for 5 min at 75°C in 5 µl DEPC-treated water in the presence of 100 ng of random primer. The reverse transcription was performed following the addition of 19µl of reverse transcription mixture (total 25 µl). The mixture consisted of buffer 5X 5µl, dNTP 2.5µl, 10 units of Superscript III Avian Myeloblastosis Virus Reverse Transcriptase (Promega), and 4 units of RNasin ribonuclease inhibitor (Promega). The reverse transcription reaction was conducted for 5 min at 25°C, 60 min at 42°C and 5 min at 85°C on an iCycler system (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA). Afterward, the cDNA was stored at –20°C.

For analysis of the PPMO's inhibition effect at mRNA level, SYBR Green realtime PCR was performed on Chromo 4<sup>TM</sup> Four-Color Real-Time System (Bio-Rad) by using the specific primers based on the sequence of PRRSV ORF1a gene as following ORF1-RR-F1: 5'-GTCTG TCCCT AGCAC CTTG-3' and ORF1-RR-R1: 5'-GCCCT CCGCC ATAAA CAC-3'. In order to generate the standard curve for the real-time PCR, a recombinant plasmid containing a fragment of 860 bases from cDNA of the 5' end of the PRRSV genome was used (Patel et al., 2008). Transcripts of  $\beta$ -actin mRNA were used as internal reference to normalize the amount of PRRSV RNA. Critical threshold (Ct) values of the target gene were averaged and normalized to the averaged Ct of  $\beta$ -actin accordingly. Real-time PCR was performed in a total volume of 20 µL using 96-w microwell plates and a sequence detector. The PCR mixture consists of 5 µL diluted cDNA, 10 µL SYBR green PCR Super Mix (Bio-Rad), 1 µL of 2.5 µM primers ORF1-RR-F1 and ORF1-RR-R1. The real-time PCR amplification was carried out in the following cycling conditions, 3 min at 95°C, followed by 40 cycles of 10 sec at 95°C and 45 sec at 62°C, and finally, 1 min at 95°C. All RT-PCR was performed in duplicate.

#### 2.8 Plasmid construction and cell-free luciferase reporter assay

The 5'UTR (312nt) of subgenomic RNA7 was PCR-amplified from the cDNA of PRRSV with forward primer 5UF1 (CTAGC TAGCG ACGTA TAGGT GTTGG CTC) and reverse primer SB7-R4 (ACGCG TCGAC CTTCT GCTGC TTGCC GGTG). The PCR product was digested with *Nhe*I and *Sal*I and subcloned into the multiple cloning site of a T7 promoter–containing luciferase reporter vector PciNeoLuc. This cloning effectively replaced the start codon of the luciferase gene with the entire PRRSV 5'UTR of subgenomic RNA7. DNA sequencing was performed to confirm the presence of the desired sequence in the resulting plasmid. Each plasmid DNA was linearized downstream

of the PRRSV sequence-luciferase gene with *Not*I. In vitro transcription was conducted with T7 RiboMAX<sup>TM</sup> Express Large Scale RNA Production System (Promega) according to the manufacturer's instructions. In vitro translations were carried out by rabbit Reticulocyte Lysate Translation System (Promega) with 2 µg transcribed RNA. The luciferase yield under absence or presence of PPMO treatment was measured by the Bright-Glo<sup>TM</sup> Luciferase Assay System (Promega) with VICTOR3<sup>TM</sup> Multilabel Counter (PerkinElmer Life and Analytical Science, Wellesley, MA). Luminescence signal in each test sample was converted to relative percentage of that in mock-treated control reactions and presented as a relative percentage of luciferase yields.

Primers specific to sub-genomic RNA7 excluding the 3'UTR and polyA were designed. *BamH*I restriction enzyme site was introduced into the sense primer 5UF2 (5'-CGCGG ATCCG ACGTA TAGGT GTTGG CTC) and *XbaI* restriction enzyme site was introduced into the antisense primer P7R2 (5'-GATCT AGATC ATGCT GAGGG TGATG). The region of about 500 bp was amplified from the subgenomic RNA7 of PRRSV and cloned into the *BamHI/Xba*I site of pcDNA3 vector. The recombinant plasmid was subjected to DNA sequencing to verify the presence of the PRRSV sequence. CRL11171 cells in 12-well plates were transfected with the plasmid by transfectin (Bio-Rad). At 24 hours after transfection, the cells were fixed with acetone and methanol for IFA as described above in section 2.6.

# 2.9 Statistical analysis

The significance of differences of viral yield or RNA level between the groups of PPMO-treated cells was assessed by student t-test. A two tailed P value of less than 0.05 was considered significant.

# **CHAPTER 3: RESULTS**

#### 3.1 Anti-PRRSV PPMO

For RNA virus with the (+) sense genome, the efficient replication of the RNA virus requires essential sequence and structural elements in terminal regions of viral genome and antigenome. The terminal regions are recognized by the viral replicase (Panavas et al., 2002; Tortorici et al., 2003). Therefore it is rational to design PPMO targeting these RNA sequences involved in viral replication, subgenomic RNA synthesis and translation. Sequence alignments of PRRSV various strains indicate that the 5'- and 3'-terminus region, as well as the 5'region of ORF1a are highly conserved within each genotype (Zhang et al., 2006, Patel et al., 2008). These conserved regions in PRRSV were speculated to be essential for virus replication (Tan et al., 2001).

Based on these considerations, twelve PPMO against PRRSV were designed (Zhang et al., 2006; Patel et al., 2008). The PPMO sequences and target sites in the PRRSV genome are specified in Table 3-1 and depicted schematically in Figure 3-1. All these PPMO sequences are derived from a virulent strain VR2385 of North American genotype (Zhang et al., 2006; Petal et al., 2008). Of the 12 PPMO, a set of 4 PPMO was designed to target the 5'- and 3'-terminus region. PPMO 5UP1 and 5HP were specific to the 5'end region of PRRSV genome. The 5'-UTR terminal regions of the antigenome were chosen as PPMO target sites in an attempt to interfere with or block translation of viral RNA replicase. The 5HP is targeted to the predicted hairpin loop structure at the 5'-UTR, which is conserved among different PRRSV isolates. Disruptions of this RNA structure either in the plus- or in the minus-strand region can interfere with the initiation of genomic RNA synthesis. The NSP2 is designed to be complementary to the 3' terminus of negative-sense RNA in an attempt to interfere with the production of positive sense RNA. The 3UP2 is paired to the 3-terminal regions of the genome of PRRSV in an attempt to interfere with the negative strand RNA synthesis and/or block viral RNA replication.

The NSP3 was designed to target the leader transcription regulation sequence (TRS) of negative sense PRRSV RNA, NSP3 binding to the leader TRS is expected to interrupt the production of PRRSV subgenomic mRNA and/or interfere with the translation of the viral subgenomic RNA. The 1bP1, 2P1, 3P1, 4P1, 5P1, 6P1, 7P1 are complementary to the translation initiation region of each open reading frame of PRRSV, ORF1, ORF2, ORF3, ORF4, ORF5, ORF6, ORF7, respectively, to inhibit the translation of these ORFs. Beside the above PRRSV specific PPMO, a random-sequence PPMO, termed CP1, was also included as negative control to monitor the off-target effects and to explore the cellular uptake of the PPMO chemistry.

PPMO name	PPMO sequence (5'–3')	Nucleotide position of PPMO target in PRRSV RNA	PPMO orientation	Target region in PRRS V RNA
5UP1	CATAGAGCCAACACCTA TACG	3-23	Antisense	5' terminu s of genomi c RNA
5HP	GTTTTGGGCTGTGCCAA TGG	54–74	Antisense	5' UTR of genomi c RNA
NSP2	GACGTATAGGTGTTGGC TCTAT	1–22	Sense	3' terminu s of negativ e-sense RNA
NSP3	CCTTTAACCATGTCTGG GAT	180–199	Sense	TRS- region
1bP1	CAACTCGAACCCGGAGG GCATG	7982-8003	Antisense	ORF1b <sup>d</sup>
2P1 <sup><u>c</u></sup>	CCCATTT <u>CAT</u> CTCAATTC AGGC	11749–11770	Antisense	ORF2 <sup>d</sup>
3P1	ACAGCTATTAAC <u>CAT</u> TG CTG	12379–12398	Antisense	ORF3 <sup>d</sup>
4P1	GGGACGAAGC <u>CAT</u> TCTA GGT	12922–12941	Antisense	ORF4 <sup><u>d</u></sup>
5P1	CCCAA <u>CAT</u> ACTTAAACA TTC	13464–13483	Antisense	ORF5 <sup>d</sup>
6P1	GGACGACTC <u>CAT</u> TGTTC CGC	14055–14074	Antisense	ORF6 <sup>d</sup>
7P1	GG <u>CAT</u> ATTTAACAAGGT TTACC	14560–14581	Antisense	ORF7 <sup>₫</sup>
3UP2	CCGTGTGGGTTCTCGCCA ATTAA	15070–15091	Antisense	3' UTR
CP1	GATATACACAACACCCA ATT	None	None	Rando m sequenc e

Table 3-1:  $PPMO^{a}$  and their target sites in PRRSV RNA genome<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup> The peptide (RXR)<sub>4</sub>XB was conjugated to the 5' end of all the PMO in this study.
<sup>b</sup> PMO design was based on PRRSV VR2385 genomic RNA (GenBank accession number <u>U03040</u>, however, sequence of the 5' end of the genome is unpublished).
<sup>c</sup> The underlined nucleotides correspond to the AUG translation initiation codons of PRRSV ORFs.

<sup>d</sup> Translation initiation regions of PRRSV ORFs.



Figure 3-1: Schematic illustration of PPMO target locations in the PRRSV genome. Positions of PPMO target sites in PRRSV genomic RNA. The arrows indicate the 5' to 3' orientation of the PPMO in relation to the PRRSV RNA genome

Initial evaluation of the individual PPMO indicated that the 5UP1 and 5 HP designed to target the 5'UTR markedly reduced PPRSV replication in cell culture (Zhang et al., 2006; Patel et al., 2008). The inhibition of the two PPMO on PRRSV replication was in a sequence specific and dose dependent manner in the concentration ranging from 2 to 32  $\mu$ M (Zhang et al., 2006; Patel et al., 2008). Treatment of cells with individual

5UP1 or 5 HP at the concentration of 16 or 32  $\mu$ M resulted in more than 4.5 log10 reduction in PRRSV yield, compared to a control PPMO (Zhang et al., 2006; Patel et al., 2008). In addition, in vitro cytotoxicity assay revealed that these PPMO displayed no detectable cytotoxicity effect even at the highest concentration tested (32 $\mu$ M) (Patel et al., 2008). A moderate reduction of PRRSV replication was also observed for the cells treated with individual 6P1 or 7P1 at a relatively high concentration, but combination of 6P1 and 7P1 was found to be more effective in reducing PRRSV replication compared to 6P1 or 7P1 alone (Patel et al., 2008). The other PPMO, as listed in Table 3-1 and when used alone, were found to have no effect in inhibiting PRRSV replication (Patel et al., 2008). These data indicated that the PPMO designed to base pair with the targets in the genomic 5'UTR are highly effective at the relative low concentration and could be explored as a potent anti-PRRSV compound.

#### **3.2** Effect of combination PPMO treatment on inhibiting PRRSV replication

PPMO 5UP1 was found to be highly effective in inhibiting PRRSV replication in cell culture. Treatment of CRL11171 cell culture with 5UP1 at the final concentration of 2  $\mu$ M resulted in moderate (about 1.0 log<sub>10</sub>) reduction in PRRSV yield (Zhang et al., 2006). To evaluate the effect of PPMO combination on inhibiting PRRSV replication, the PPMO 5UP1 was paired with each of the following individual PPMO, 1bP1, 2P1, 3P1, 4P1, 5P1, 6P1, 7P1, and NSP3 at different concentration range. In the initial experiment, the 5UP1 at the concentration of 2  $\mu$ M was paired with 16  $\mu$ M of each of the other PPMO.

41

A virulent PRRSV strain, VR2385, was used to evaluate the combinatory effect of PPMO pair on inhibiting PRRSV replication in CRL11171 cells. The monolayer cells were inoculated with VR2385 virus at an MOI of 0.5 and incubated for 2 hours. Then cells were treated with various PPMO pairs and concentrations for 4 hours after the virus inoculation. Cells were then observed daily for the CPE development, the supernatant was collected at 48 h p.i., and the virus titers were determined by TCID<sub>50</sub> assay. Compared to the virus control group, treatment of CRL11171 cells with 2  $\mu$ M 5UP1 alone appeared to reduce the yield of PRRSV for 0.5 to 1.0 log<sub>10</sub> TCID<sub>50</sub>/mL (Figure 3-2A), which is in agreement with the previous observation (Zhang et al., 2006). In contrast, treatment of CRL11171 cells with a combination of 2  $\mu$ M 5UP1 and 16  $\mu$ M of each PPMO pair resulted in complete inhibition of PRRSV replication, and virus yield was not detectable (Figure 3-2A).

To further assess the combinatory effect of 5UP1 paired with other PPMO, the 5UP1 concentration was reduced from 2 to 0.5  $\mu$ M and the other PPMO were at 8  $\mu$ M or 16  $\mu$ M. CRL11171 cells were treated the same way as performed on 2  $\mu$ M 5UP1 treatment described above. Titrations of PRRSV from cell culture supernatant collected at 48 h p.i showed that treatment with 5UP1 at the concentration of 0.5  $\mu$ M did not significantly reduce virus yield compared to virus control or mock treatment (Figure 3-2B). Among all these PPMO pairs tested, a combination of 0.5  $\mu$ M 5UP1 and 8  $\mu$ M 4P1 or 7P1 showed more synergistic inhibition effects on PPRSV replication than other PPMO pairs (Figure 3-2B). CRL11171 cells treated with 0.5 $\mu$ M 5UP1 in conjunction

with 8  $\mu$ M of 4P1 or 7P1 caused a 2 to 3 log<sub>10</sub> TCID<sub>50</sub> reduction in comparison to the mock-treatment or CP1 control (Figure 3-2C). Treatment with 16  $\mu$ M of 4P1 or 7P1 in combination with 0.5 $\mu$ M of 5UP1 strongly inhibited PRRSV replication and virus yields were below detection level, while each individual PPMO alone did not show detectable effect at the same concentration tested (Figure 3-2C). This experiment was repeated three times and similar results were observed each time. These results indicated that combination of 5UP1 (0.5  $\mu$ M) with 4P1 or 7P1 (8 or 16  $\mu$ M) was more effective in inhibiting PRRSV replication than a constituent individual PPMO of the pairs (Figure 3-2). None of the other PPMO pairs tested showed obvious synergistic effect than that of the individual PPMO in the corresponding group. Therefore, the 5UP1+4P1 and 5UP1 +7P1 pairs were selected for further characterization.

Figure 3-2A:



Figure 3-2B:



Figure 3-2C:



Figure 3-2: PPMO-mediated inhibition of PRRSV replication in infected CRL11171 cells. A. Titration of virus yield from CRL11171 cells after PPRSV infection and indicated PPMO treatment. Virus titer is shown as  $TCID_{50}$  ( $log_{10}/ml$ ). PPMO 5UP1 was used at 2  $\mu$ M, and other PPMO used at 16  $\mu$ M. Cells that were treated with PPMO combination had virus yield below detection level, and a bar is arbitrarily drawn to show the samples in the graph. "VC" indicates cells with virus infection but no PPMO treatment. B. Virus yields from cells treated with combination of PPMO 5UP1 at 0.5  $\mu$ M and other PPMO used at 4 or 8  $\mu$ M (in parenthesis). Cells treated with PPMO combination of 5UP1+4P1 or 5UP1+7P1 had better synergistic effect compared with other PPMO combinations at the same concentrations. C. Virus yields from cells treated with PPMO. 5UP1 was used at 0.5  $\mu$ M and other PPMO used at 8 or 16  $\mu$ M (in parenthesis). "Mock" sample is virus inoculation with no PPMO treatment. The

significance of difference in viral yields between the treatments: \*, P<0.05; \*\*, P<0.01. Cells that were treated with PPMO combination of 5UP1 ( $0.5\mu$ M) with 4P1 or 7P1 at 16 $\mu$ M had virus yield not detectable in this assay, and a bar is arbitrarily drawn to show the samples in the graph. The experiment was repeated three times and error bars are shown.

#### **3.3** Effect of combination PPMO treatment on PRRSV RNA synthesis

PPMO 5UP1 was specific to the 5'terminal 21 nt of PRRSV genome. This region is known to be critical in the pre-initiation of translation (van der Born et al., 2004) of viral genomic RNA. The 5UP1 binding to its target site interferes with the translation of the viral genomic RNA, and therefore inhibits the translation of PRRSV replicase. Previous work at this lab has demonstrated that treatment of CRL11171 cells with 16 µM 5UP1 led to a significant reduction in PRRSV minus-strand RNA synthesis as a result of lowered levels of replicase expression (Zhang et al., 2006). To assess the effect of PPMO combination on PRRSV RNA synthesis, CRL11171 cells were inoculated with VR2385 at an MOI of 0.5, treated with PPMO, and harvested at 24 h p.i for RNA isolation. The CRL11171 cells were treated with the two pairs of PPMO combinations, 5UP1 + 4P1 and 5UP1+7P1. The 5UP1 PPMO was used at the fixed concentration of 0.5 µM, while 4P1 or 7P1 was tested at two different concentrations of 8 µM and 16µM. Real-time RT-PCR was performed to measure the levels of PRRSV genomic RNA. The results are summarized in Figure 3-3. PPMO 5UP1 at the concentration of 0.5 µM had no effect on viral RNA level. PPMO 4P1 or 7P1 at the concentration of 8 or 16  $\mu$ M also did not show

inhibition of viral RNA synthesis when compared to the viral RNA level in mock treatment (Figure 3-3), but the combination of 5UP1 (0.5  $\mu$ M) with 4P1 (8  $\mu$ M) or 7P1 (8  $\mu$ M) led to 100 to 1000 fold (2 to 3 logs) reduction of viral RNA level. More reduction in viral RNA level was observed when the concentration of 4P1 or 7P1 increased from 8  $\mu$ M to 16  $\mu$ M, which led to a RNA copies reduction of 1000 to 10000 fold (Figure 3-3). The results indicate the effect of PPMO combination treatment on the inhibition of PRRSV RNA synthesis.

It was noted that the 5UP1 and CP1 combination also slightly reduced the viral RNA level compared to the mock treatment, but the reduction in viral RNA level was much smaller than combination of 5UP1 and 7P1 or 4P1.



Figure 3-3: Effect of combination of PPMO treatment on PRRSV RNA synthesis. Quantitation of PRRSV RNA was done by real-time RT-PCR. Treatment of the cells with PPMO combination of 5UP1 (0.5  $\mu$ M) with 4P1or 7P1 at 16 $\mu$ M led to significant reduction of PRRSV genomic RNA level. The combination of 5UP1 with 4P1 or 7P1 at 8  $\mu$ M also reduce the virus RNA copies 2 to 3 logs compared with the virus control and those PPMO alone. The difference in viral RNA copies between the treatments was significant: \*, P<0.05; \*\*, P<0.01. The PRRSV RNA copy numbers were calculated based on a standard curve after normalization with transcript of  $\beta$ -actin.

#### **3.4** Effect of PPMO combination treatment on PRRSV protein synthesis

The effect of treatment with PPMO combination on PRRSV protein synthesis was examined by IFA using a mAb EF11 against the PRRSV N-protein (Zhang et al., 1998). The IFA result is shown in Figure 3-4. Treatment of cells with combination of 5UP1 with 4P1 or 7P1 led to an absence of PRRSV-positive cells. In cells treated with combination of 5UP1 with the control PPMO CP1, fluorescent-positive cells were observed and the percentage was similar to the cells treated with 5UP1 alone. In cells treated with 7P1 or 5UP1 alone, some PRRSV-positive cells were observed, but far fewer than those treated with 4P1 alone or mock treatment control. These results indicate that the combination of 5UP1 with 4P1 or 7P1 inhibited PRRSV N protein expression in VR2385-inoculated cells.

The PPMO 4P1, 7P1 and CP1 were tested at 16  $\mu$ M and 5UP1 was at 0.5  $\mu$ M. Cell viability assay previously conducted in our lab has demonstrated that individual PPMO or PPMO combination at the concentration of 16  $\mu$ M did not have a notable cytotoxicity effect in CRL11171 cells (Patel et al. 2008). Cells treated with 16  $\mu$ M 5UP1 PPMO had similar viability to the cells treated with CP1-treated cells and mock treatment control (Zhang et al. 2006). The average relative percentages of cell viability were 97% for 7P1 treated cells. These results indicate that the PPMO was not cytotoxic at 16  $\mu$ M under these treatment conditions (Patel et al. 2008). Inhibition of the virus yield and protein synthesis observed in the antiviral experiments above was due to sequencespecific effects but not due to the reduction of the cell viability.

49



Figure 3-4 Immunofluorescence assay with N-specific mAb. Specific fluorescence was clearly visible at 24 h post PRRSV (VR2385) infection, while no fluorescence is observed in negative control. Treatment with PPMO combination of 5UP1  $0.5\mu$ M+4P1  $16\mu$ M or 5UP1  $0.5\mu$ M+7P1  $16\mu$ M resulted in the reduction of number of PPRSV-positive cells below detection level. The images below the green fluorescence images were taken under phase contrast to show the total number of living cells.

# 3.5 Sequence-specific inhibition of target mRNA translation in a cell-free reporter assay

To further characterize the PPMO's synergistic anti-PRRSV effect, a cell-free luciferase reporter assay was conducted. The sequence of PRRSV 5'UTR region (312nt) from subgenomic RNA7 was cloned upstream of a luciferase reporter gene in pCiNeoLuc plasmid. In this assay, PPMO binding to its RNA target could inhibit the translation of downstream luciferase coding sequence. Cell-free transcription and translation were conducted to test the luciferase translation in the presence and absence of PPMO. In this test, the cellular uptake of PPMO was avoided and the direct effect of PPMO combination on target mRNA translation was determined.

The results of sequence-specific inhibition of target mRNA translation in a cellfree reporter assay by PPMO or a PPMO combination are shown in Figure 3-5 and summarized in Table 3-2. The 5UP1 at the concentration of 10 nM and 7P1 at the concentration of 50 nM resulted in the expression of luciferase at about 30 to 40% compared to the mock treatment. When 10 nM 5UP1 and 50 nM 7P1 were combined, the luciferase production was down to 16% compared to the mock treatment control, far lower than each of these two PPMO alone. When 5UP1 was combined with control CP1 at the same concentration, no further effect was noticed on the inhibition of luciferase expression. The result demonstrated that the combination PPMO's synergistic effect on inhibition of target mRNA translation was sequence-specific.

 Table 3-2:
 Sequence-specific inhibition of target mRNA translation in a

 cell-free luciferase reporter assay

РРМО	Concentration	Luciferase production	Relative percentage
5UP1	10 nM	3791	34.6
7P1	50 nM	3474	31.7
5UP1+7P1	10 nM+50 nM	1789.5	16.4
5UP1+CP1	10 nM+50 nM	4421	40.4
None	None	10944	100



Figure 3-5. Inhibition of target RNA translation by PPMO in a cell-free luciferase reporter assay. Relative percentages of inhibition were calculated in comparison with signal of sample from none PPMO control. Combination of 5UP1 10 nM+7P1 50 nM showed enhanced effect in comparison with 5UP1 and 7P1 alone, while combination of 5UP1+CP1 at the same concentration had no such effect. This is one representative experiment of three repeats.

#### **3.6 PPMO targeting the PRRSV 5' UTR can interfere with translation**

PPMO 5UP1 is designed to target the 5'-terminal 21 nt of PRRSV genomic RNA. 5UP1 binding to the target sequence is expected to block the translation of ORF1a and ORF1b, which encode the viral replicases including RNA-dependent RNA polymerase. The viral replicase is also responsible for generation of full-length genomic antisense RNA used for viral RNA replication. To define the mechanism of PMO-mediated inhibition, we have cloned subgenomic RNA7 (ORF7) excluding 3'UTR and polyA into pcDNA3 vector under the mammalian CMV promoter. The resulting recombinant plasmid, pcDNA3-sg7, was transfected into CRL11171 cells to test the effect of PPMO combination on the inhibition of N protein expression. In this case, the target mRNA level is expected to remain the same in the presence or absence of PPMO because of the transient transfection under the same promoter. The PPMO effect on the translation of target mRNA in transfected cells can be determined.

After transfection of pcDNA3-sg7 into cells, the expression of N protein was detected by IFA using a mAb against PRRSV N-protein (Figure 3-6) at 24 h posttransfection. Treatment of the cells with PPMO combination 5UP1 +7P1 inhibited the N-protein expression to below detection level, while 5UP1, 7P1, or combination of 5UP1+CP1 had much less effect on N-protein expression. The relative lower level of N protein expression from pcDNA3-sg7 plasmid in the transfected cells made it difficult to quantitatively evaluate the synergistic effect using the transient expression system by Western blot.

53

# Figure 3-6A



# Figure 3-6B



Figure 3-6C



Figure 3-6: Immunofluorescence assay of cells transfected with PRRSV N-plasmid pcDNA3-sg7. A. IFA of the cells with N-specific EF11 monoclonal antibody. The N-protein is expressed mainly in the cytoplasm. B. Effect of PPMO on N-protein expression in the transiently transfected cells. Treatment of the cells with PPMO combination 5UP1 +7P1 inhibited the N-protein expression to below detection level, while 5UP1, 7P1, or combination of 5UP1+CP1 had much less effect on N-protein expression. The image above the green fluorescence images were taken with a DAPI filter to show the total number of living cells.

Since the plasmid pCINeoLuc-5UTR contains 5'UTR sequence of subgenomic RNA7, which has the targets of PPMO 5UP1 and 7P1, this plasmid was also used to transfect into CRL11171 cells. The luciferase production was quantitatively measured and compared between the cells treated with PPMO and the non-treatment control. The result of this analysis is shown in Figure 3-7 and data summarized in Table 3-3. The treatment of CRL11171 cells with combination of 5UP1 ( $0.5 \mu$ M) +7P1 ( $16 \mu$ M) resulted in about 30% reduction in luciferase yield in comparison with 5UP1 ( $0.5 \mu$ M) alone. The combination of 5UP1 ( $0.5 \mu$ M) +CP1 ( $16 \mu$ M) did not have further effect compared with 5UP1 ( $0.5 \mu$ M) alone. This quantitative result further confirmed that combination of 5UP1 0.5  $\mu$ M +7P1 16  $\mu$ M had enhanced inhibitory effect on the translation of target gene, while 5UP1 +CP1 has no such effect.

Table 3-3:Sequence-specific inhibition of target mRNA translation of a luciferasereporter in CRL11171 cells

РРМО	Luciferase reading	Relative Percentage
No PPMO	3069	100
5UP1	2683	87.4
7P1	3047	99.3
5UP1 +7P1	1816	59.2
5UP1 +CP1	2546	82.9



Figure 3-7: Inhibition of target RNA translation by PPMO in a luciferase reporter assay. PciNeoluc-5UTR plasmid was transfected into CRL11171 cells and luciferase yield was

measured. Relative percentages of luciferase yield were calculated in comparison with signal of none PPMO control. Combination of 5UP1 0.5  $\mu$ M +7P1 16  $\mu$ M shows enhanced inhibitory effect, while 5UP1 +CP1 has no such effect.

#### **3.7** Inhibitory effect of PPMO combination against heterologous PRRSV strains

The PPMO in this study were designed based on the sequence from the VR2385 strain of North American genotype. To determine the efficacy of combination of 5UP1 with 4P1 or 7P1 against other PRRSV isolates, cross strain inhibition assay was conducted. PRRSV strains FL-12, 16244B, 16138, 11604, 17041, 14680, 12773, 13909, and Lelystad were used in this test. The Lelystad strain is a prototype of the European genotype. Other strains belong to North American PRRSV genotype. The combination of 5UP1 with 4P1 and combination of 5UP1 with 7P1 were tested against each of the PRRSV strains. CRL11171 cells were treated with PPMO after inoculation with the respective viruses. Cells were then observed daily for the CPE development, the supernatant was collected at 48 h p.i., and the virus titers were determined by TCID<sub>50</sub> titration assay.

The result for cross strain inhibition assay is shown on Figure 3-8. Virus titration results showed that the combination of 5UP1 and 4P1 and combination of 5UP1 and 7P1 effectively inhibited PRRSV replication of all strains except Lelystad virus. Treatment of PRRSV infected cells with PPMO combinations of 5UP1 at 0.5µM with 4P1 or 7P1 at 16µM led to virus yields not detectable in this assay. In contrast, replication of the Lelystad virus was not inhibited by any of the PPMO combinations tested. It is not

57

surprising that the PPMO has little effect on Lelystad virus because the sequence alignment of these PPMO target sites of the PRRSV strains showed that Lelystad virus had low sequence identity with the other strains. In comparison with VR2385, Lelystad has 13 bp mismatch the 5UP1 target site, 5 bp mismatch in 4P1 target site, and 5 bp mismatch the 7P1 target site (Figure 3-9). The results of cross strain inhibition assay further confirmed the sequence-specific inhibition of PPMO on the PPRSV replication and indicates the potential application of the PPMO combination in the field against prevalent heterologous PRRSV isolates.



Figure 3-8: Cross strain inhibition assay. A. Virus yield titration shows inhibition of nine North American PRRSV strains by PPMO combination of 5UP1+4P1 or 5UP1+7P1. Lelystad is a prototype of European PRRSV genotype. All other strains are North American PRRSV genotype. "Mock" is virus infection control without PPMO. Treatment of the cells with PPMO combination led to suppression of PRRSV replication of all North American strains, which had virus yields not detectable in this assay, and bars are arbitrarily drawn to show the samples in the graph.

# <u>5UP1</u>

PPMO target	c-gtataggtgttggctctatg
VR 2385	
11604	
16138	
16244b	.c.ggc
FL-12	
MLV	
Lelystad	tgtgtagacc.cca

#### 4P1

PPMO target	acctagaatggctgcgtccc
VR2385	
16244b	t
MLV	t
FL-12	C
Lely	.tt.gga

PPMO target	ggtaaaccttgttaaatatg-cc
VR2385	
16138	
11604	
16244b	
17041	
14680	
12773	
13909	
MLV	
Lely	tcgg

Figure 3-9: Alignment of target sequence of PPMO 5UP1, 4P1 and 7P1. Sequence analysis identifies nucleotide mismatches between PPMO and their complementary target sites in PRRSV RNA. PRRSV strain names are listed in the first column. "Lely" stands for Lelystad strain. PPMO names are listed above the sequence. VR2385 sequence is used as the reference sequence, as the PPMO were designed against it. For all other sequences, only nucleotides differing from the reference sequence are shown, and identical nucleotides are indicated as ".". Missing nucleotides are indicated as "-". The initiation codon ATG of ORFs 4 and 7 is underlined. GenBank accession numbers for PRRSV strains in the alignment are listed in parenthesis: Lelystad (M96262), FL-12 (derived from infectious clone of AY545985), 16244B (AF046869), 11604 (EF523345), Ingelvac MLV (EF484033), and 16138 (EF523346). Nucleotide sequences for other strains in the figure are unpublished.

# <u>7P1</u>

# **CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION**

The high prevalence of the PRRS and the limited efficacy of both inactivated and attenuated vaccines have shown the need to search for effective antiviral compounds. PMO, as a novel antisense compound, specifically targets the RNA sequence and displays highly biological stability and low toxicity.

For RNA virus with the positive sense genome, the efficient replication of the RNA virus requires essential sequence and structural elements at the terminal UTRs of the viral genome for viral replication, subgenomic RNA synthesis and translation. The terminal regions are recognized by the viral replicase (Panavas et al., 2002; Tortorici et al., 2003)

The 5' terminal UTR of PRRSV genome was found to contain the most sensitive target for inhibiting virus replication with PPMO (Zhang et al., 2006; Patel et al., 2008). PPMO 5UP1 targeting the 5' terminus of PRRSV genome were found to be highly effective in inhibiting the PRRSV replication in cell culture in a sequence-specific and dose-responsive manner in the concentration ranging from 2 to 32  $\mu$ M (Zhang et al; 2006; Patel et al.2008). Treatment of cells with individual 5UP1 at the concentration of 16  $\mu$ M resulted in more than 4.5 log<sub>10</sub> reduction in PRRSV yield, compared to a control PPMO (Zhang et al., 2006). Other PPMO designed to target the 3'-terminal region, translation initiation regions of ORFs 2 through 7, and negative-sense PRRSV RNA

(Table 3-1) were found to be less or no effective against PRRSV replication when used individually, even at the relative higher concentration than 5UP1 (Patel et al., 2008).

In this project, we evaluated various combinations of two PPMO on inhibiting PRRSV replication in cell culture. One of the two PPMO in the combination test was 5UP1, and the other one was selected among the PPMO listed in Table 3-1. PPMO 5UP1 was tested at 2 and 0.5 µM, respectively. To our surprise, the combination of 5UP1 at 2 µM with all other PPMO tested completely inhibited VR2385 replication to below detection level, while 5UP1 at 2 µM had a little effect. This result suggests the combinatory effect of two PPMO. PPMO 5UP1 at the concentration of 0.5 µM was paired with 8 or 16 µM of each of the following PPMO: 1bP1, 2P1, 3P1, 4P1, 5P1, 6P1, 7P1, and NSP2. Of the total 8 sets of pair combination, we found two sets of combinations, 5UP1+4P1 and 5UP1+7P1, were highly effective in inhibiting the PRRSV replication. Treatment of CRL11171 cells with 0.5 µM 5UP1 alone had little impact on PRRSV replication, but a combination of 0.5 µM 5UP1 with 4P1 or 7P1 had a significant synergistic effect on inhibiting PRRSV replication than did either one of the two PPMO alone. Virus titration clearly demonstrated that 5UP1 combined with 4P1 or 7P1 was effective in a dose-responsive manner in inhibiting PRRSV production in infected cells. The reason for the ineffectiveness of the other 6 sets of combination PPMO that targets the initiation site of individual ORF is not clear, but could be due to inaccessibility of PRRSV target sequence or successful PPMO/target-RNA hybrid did not affect PRRSV replication. It is also speculated that GP<sub>4</sub> and N proteins have essential roles in PRRSV replication. However, we do not have data to support this theory since GP<sub>4</sub> or N gene

62

expression was not monitored and their roles in PRRSV replication are not well understood.

A moderate reduction of PRRSV replication was also observed for the cells treated with individual 6P1 or 7P1 at a relatively high concentration, but combination of 6P1 and 7P1 was found to be more effective in inhibiting PRRSV replication than did either of the two PPMO alone (Patel et al., 2008). A combination of PPMO produced greater efficacy than either PPMO alone against Influenza A virus replication in cell culture (Ge et al., 2006).

Applications of PPMO targeted to the terminal UTRs successfully suppressed virus replication in a sequence-specific manner in vitro have been documented for many RNA viruses (Kinney *et al.*, 2005; Deas *et al.*, 2005; Neumann et al., 2005; van den Born et al., 2005; Ge et al., 2006). Recently, PPMO have been also applied *in vivo* and protected animals from challenge with Ebola Virus (Enterlein et al., 2006), Coxsackievirus B3 (Yuan et al., 2006), and murine coronaviruses (Burrer et al., 2007).

To elucidate the mechanism of combination PPMO-mediated inhibition, we conducted quantitative RT-PCR analyses to assess PRRSV RNA level (Figure 3-3). Treatment of cells with the combination of 5UP1 with 4P1 or 7P1 led to a significant reduction of PRRSV genomic RNA level, indicating inhibition of PRRSV RNA synthesis, likely accomplished through blocking translation of the replicase encoded by ORF1a/b. It is not clear whether the presence of 4P1 or 7P1 enhanced the blocking effect of 5UP1

63
or the combinatory effect of blocking both target sites of the PPMO pair. It is likely that the combinatory blocking effect was responsible for the reduction of PRRSV genomic RNA since combination of 5UP1 with CP1 or other PRRSV PPMO did not have the enhanced effect. It will be interesting to define if the combinatory effect is due to blocking of the two target sites in this assay. An affirmative result will provide a proof of principle for application of the PPMO combination in the field to protect pigs against infection by heterologous PRRSV isolates. A PPMO-associated reduction in PRRSV RNA production by 5UP1 alone at 16  $\mu$ M was also observed by RT-PCR in the previous study conducted in this laboratory (Zhang et al., 2006). In addition to evaluating the inhibition at RNA synthesis level, the effect of PPMO combination on PRRSV protein synthesis was also examined by IFA using a mAb against the PRRSV N-protein. The IFA results showed that treatment of cells with 5UP1 combined with 4P1 or 7P1 led to inhibition of viral major N protein synthesis. This result is consistent with the level of PRRSV genomic RNA in previous publications (Patel et al 2008). The reduction of N protein in cells treated with 5UP1+4P1 indicates that PRRSV subgenomic RNA synthesis was reduced.

To further elucidate the mechanism of the inhibition by PPMO combination, a cell-free luciferase/translation assay was performed in the presence or absence of the PPMO combination. This assay avoids PPMO delivery issue in cell culture and directly tests the PPMO combinatory effect. For this assay, only the fragment of PRRSV 5'UTR region (312 nt) from subgenomic RNA was subcloned upstream of a luciferase reporter gene plasmid, as a proof of principle. Concurrent PPMO binding to their RNA target

64

sites inhibits the translation of downstream luciferase-coding sequence. Our results indicated that 5UP1+7P1 displayed synergistic effect in inhibition of translation of luciferase reporter gene in a sequence specific manner. In this study, the direct effect of PPMO combination on target mRNA translation was determined. The result indicated that the combination PPMO's inhibitory effect was related to their inhibition of target mRNA translation. Since this is a sensitive test, and the concentration of PPMO used was a little high, presence of individual PPMO also showed inhibitory effect. But clearly the PPMO combination offered enhanced effect in reducing luciferase yield.

To examine the effect of PPMO combination on target mRNA translation in cells, a cell culture based translation assay was also performed using transient expression of the ORF7 gene driven by a eukaryotic promoter-cytomegalovirus (CMV) promoter. To do this, we cloned the 5'UTR region and ORF7 gene from subgenomic RNA7 into the pcDNA3 vector and generated the pcDNA3-Sg7 plasmid. Transfection of the pcDNA3-Sg7 into the CRL11171 cells resulted in expression of ORF7 gene (N protein). The expression level of the N-protein from the transient transfection was low in CRL11171 cells, which might be due to the long UTR (312 nt) present before the ORF7 gene or due to low transfection rate. The first speculation may be the reason since we conducted transient transfection of the cells with a GFP reporter plasmid and observed approximately 30% GFP-positive cells. In PRRSV-infected cells, virus-encoded polymerase translates the ORF7 gene from subgenomic RNA efficiently, as shown by intense immunostaining in IFA with N-specific mAb (Fig 3-4). It is likely that the cellular polymerase does not work well on such RNA template. However, the synergistic effect of PPMO combination on the expression of ORF7 gene was also observed when compared to the cells treated with individual PPMO. Similar inhibition effect on the translation was confirmed by tranfecting the luciferase reporter plasmid that contains the PRRSV 5'UTR region cloned into the upstream of the luciferase reporter gene. The advantage of the luciferase reporter system is the quantitative measurement of the luciferase yield, which is preferred to IFA under such scenario due to low rate of Npositive cells in IFA.

These two PPMO pairs were also shown to have an inhibitory effect on several North American PRRSV strains in our cross strain inhibition assay, but had no inhibitory effect on the European PRRSV strain. Sequence alignment showed that 5'UTR region in PRRSV genome is quite conserved across strains in the same genotype. However, the European strain is quite different from the North American strains and shares only 40% sequence identity in 5'UTR and 67% in ORF2-7 with North American strains. This result further proved that the PPMO works in a sequence-specific manner, which is quite a good advantage of PPMO as an antiviral compound compared to small chemical drugs. As the most important swine disease, PRRS causes enormous economic losses in the swine industry. Due to its easy transmission, high variability, and lack of a broadly protective vaccine, the control of this disease is difficult. Currently available vaccines have limited effect, especially when used against the heterogeneous PRRSV strains, which are commonly found in outbreaks (Meng. 2000; Opriessining et al, 2002)

66

PPMO combination of 5UP1+4P1 and 5UP1+7P1 inhibited replication of ten North American PRRSV strains in our cross-strain inhibition assay. Sequence alignment showed that the region targeted by these PPMO contains highly conserved sequences. In addition, analysis of PRRSV sequences from the GenBank indicates that the complementary sequences of 5UP1 and 7P1 are highly conserved across North American PRRSV strains. Thus, these two antisense PPMO have the potential for application against most North American PRRSV strains. The broad inhibition by the two sets of PPMO combination further confirms that the 5' UTR of PRRSV is a highly productive target. A cell viability assay of PPMO-treated CRL11171 cells detected no cytotoxicity, indicating that the suppression of PRRSV molecular events. The absence of PPMOinduced cytotoxicity at effective antiviral concentrations is an important attribute of these compounds, when considering potential *in vivo* applications.

The prevalence of PRRSV and financial losses associated with PRRSV infection in swine herds is high, and current strategies to control PRRS, including the use of commercial vaccines, are inconsistent and generally less than adequate (Meng et al., 2000 Opriessnig et al., 2002). Specific anti-PRRSV drugs are urgently needed to control PRRS disease. In this project, two pairs of PPMO combination (5UP1+ 4P1 and 5UP1+7P1) were found to effectively inhibit the PRRSV replication in cell culture and can be considered potential drug candidates for use in PRRSV control, especially when high variability and mutation rate of PRRSV replication are considered. Further

67

investigation into the pharmacokinetic, toxicological, and antiviral properties of these PPMO combinations *in vivo* against heterologous PRRSV strains is warranted.

## **CHAPTER 5: REFERENCES**

- 1. Albina E, Madec F, Cariolet R, and Torrison J. (1994). Immune response and persistence of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) virus in infected pigs and farm units. *Virus Res*, 134: 567-573.
- 2. Allende R, Lewis TL, Lu Z, Rock DL, Kutish GF, Ali A, Doster AR, and Osorio FA. (1999). North American and European porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome viruses differ in non-structural protein coding regions. *J Gen Virol*, 80: 307-315.
- 3. Allende R, Laegreid WW, Kutish GF, Galeota JA, Wills RW, and Osorio FA. (2000). Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus: description of persistence in individual pigs upon experimental infection. *J. Virol*, 74:10834-10837.
- 4. Arora V, Cate ML, Ghosh C, and Iversen PL. (2002a). Phosphorodiamidate morpholino antisense oligomers inhibit expression of human cytochrome P450 3A4 and alter selected drug metabolism. *Drug Metab. Dispos*, 30: 757–762.
- 5. Arora V, Knapp DC, Reddy MT, Weller DD, and Iversen PL. (2002b). Bioavailability and efficacy of antisense morpholino oligomers targeted to c-myc and cytochrome P-450 3A2 following oral administration in rats. *J. Pharm. Sci*, 91:1009–1018.
- 6. Bautista EM, Faaberg KS, Mickelson D, and McGruder ED. (2002). Functional properties of the predicted helicase of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *Virology*, 298(2): 258-270.
- 7. Beltran-Alcrudo D, Lubroth J, Njeumi F, Pinto J, Depner K, DeLaRocque S, and Martin V. (2007). EMPRES Focus on: Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus. No 2.
- 8. Benfield DA, Nelson E, Collins JE, Harris L, Goyal SM, Robison D, Christianson WT, Morrison RB, Gorcyca D, and Chladek D. (1992). Characterization of swine infertility and respiratory Syndrome (SIRS) virus (isolate ATCC VR-2332). *J Vet Diagn Invest*, 4 (2):127-133.
- 9. Bilodeau R, Archambault D, Vezina S, Sauvageau R, Fournier M, and Dea S. (1994). Persistence of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infection in a swine operation. *Can J Vet Res*, 58: 291-298.

- 10. Botner A, Strandbygaard B, Sorensen KJ, Have P, Madsen KG, Madsen ES, and Alexandersen S. (1997). Appearance of acute PRRS-like symptoms in sow herds after vaccination with a modified live PRRS vaccine. *Vet Rec*, 141 (19): 497-499.
- 11. Burrer R, Neuman BW, Ting JP, Stein DA, Moulton HM, Iversen PL, Kuhn P and Buchmeier MJ. (2007). Antiviral effects of antisense morpholino oligomers in murine coronavirus infection models. *J. Virol*, 81: 5637–5648.
- 12. Cafruny WA, Duman RG, Wong GH, Said S, Ward-Demo P, Rowland RR, and Nelson EA. (2006). Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) infection spreads by cell-to-cell transfer in cultured MARC-145 cells, is dependent on an intact cytoskeleton, and is suppressed by drug-targeting of cell permissiveness to virus infection. *J. Virol*, 3: 90.
- 13. Clavert JG, Slade DE, Shield SL, Jolie R, Mannan RM, Ankenbauer RG, Welch SK. (2007). CD163 expression confers susceptibility to porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome viruses. *J. Virol*, 81: 7371-7379.
- 14. Christopher-Hennings J, Faaberg KS, Murtaugh MP, Nelson EA, Roof MB, Vaughn EM, Yoon KJ, and Zimmerman JJ. (2002). Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) diagnostics: interpretations and limitations. *J. Swine Health Prod*, 10:213-218.
- 15. Christopher-Hennings J, Holler LD, Benfield DA, and Nelson EA. (2001). Detection and duration of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in semen, serum, peripheral blood mononuclear cells, and tissues from Yorkshire, Hampshire, and Landrace boars. J. Vet. Diagn. Invest, 13:133-142.
- 16. Christopher-Hennings J, Nelson EA, Nelson JK, Benfield DA. (1997). Effects of a modified-live virus vaccine against porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome in boars. *Am J Vet Res*, 58(1): 40- 45.
- 17. Christopher-Hennings J, Nelson EA, Hines HJ, Nelson JK, Swenson SL, and Zimmerman JJ. (1995). Persistence of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in serum and semen of adult boars. *J. Vet. Diagn. Invest*, 7: 456–464.
- Collins JE, Benfield DA, Christianson WT, Harris L, Hennings JC, Shaw DP, Goyal SM, McCullough S, Morrison RB, and Joo HS. (1992). Isolation of swine infertility and respiratory syndrome virus (isolate ATCC VR-2332) in North America and experimental reproduction of the disease in gnotobiotic pigs. *J Vet Diagn Invest*, 4 (2): 117-26.
- 19. Conzelmann KK, Visser N, Van Woensel P, and Thiel HJ, (1993). Molecular characterization of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus, a member of the arterivirus group. *Virology*, 193: 329–339.

- 20. Christianson WT, Collins JE, Benfield DA, Harris L, Gorcyca DE, Morrisn RB, and Joo HS. (1992). Experimentl reproduction of swine infertility and reproductive and syndrome in pregnant sows. *Am J Vet Res*, 53: 485-488.
- 21. de Lima M, Kwon B, Ansari IH, Pattnaik AK, Flores EF, and Osoria FA. (2008). Development of a porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus differentiable (DIVA) strain through deletion of specific immunodominant epitopes. *Vaccine*, 26 (29-30): 3594-3600.
- 22. Delputte PL, Costers S, and Nauwynck HJ. (2005). Analysis of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus attachment and internalization: distinctive roles for heparin sulfate and sialoadhesin. *J. Gen. Virol*, 86:1441-1445.
- 23. Dea S, Gagnon CA, Mardassi H, and Milane G. (1996). Antigenic variability among North American and European strains of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus as defined by monoclonal antibodies to the matrix protein. *J Clin Micro*, 34 (6): 1488-93.
- 24. Dea S, Gagnon CA, Mardassi H, Pirzadeh B, Rogan D. (2000). Current knowledge on the structural proteins of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) virus: comparison of the North American and European isolates. *Arch Virol*, 145(4): 659-688.
- 25. Delputte PL, Vanderheijden N, Nauwynck HJ, and Pensaert MB. (2002). Involvement of the matrix protein in attachment of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus to a heparinlike receptor on porcine alveolar macrophages. J. Virol, 76:4312-4320.
- 26. Delputte PL, and Nauwynck HJ. (2004a). Porcine arterivirus infection of alveolar macrophages is mediated by sialic acid on the virus. *J. Virol*, 78:8094-8101.
- 27. Delputte PL, Costers S, and Nauwynck HJ. (2004b). Effect of virus-specifc antibodies on attachment, internalization and infection of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in primary macrophages. *Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol*, 102: 179-188.
- 28. Delputte PL, Costers S, and Nauwynck HJ. (2005). Analysis of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus attachment and internalization: distinctive roles for heparan sulphate and sialoadhesin. *J. Gen. Virol*, 86:1441-1445.
- 29. Delputte PL and Nauwynck HJ. (2006). Porcine arterivirus entry in macrophages: heparan sulfate-mediated attachment, sialoadhesin-mediated internalization, and a cell-specific factor mediating virus disassembly and genome release. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol*, 581:247-252.

- 30. Deas TS, Binduga-Gajewska I, Tilgner M, Ren P, Stein DA, Moulton HM, Iversen PL, Kauffman EB, Kramer LD and Shi PY. (2005). Inhibition of flavivirus infections by antisense oligomers specifically suppressing viral translation and RNA replication. *J. Virol*, 79: 4599–4609.
- 31. Dee SA and Joo HS. (1994). Recurrent reproductive failure associated with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome in a swine herd. *J Am Vet Med Assoc*, 205(7): 1017-1018.
- 32. de Lima M, Pattnaik AK, Flores EF, and Osorio FA. (2006). Serologic marker candidates identified among B-cell linear epitopes of Nsp2 and structural proteins of a North American strain of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *Virology*, 353:410-421.
- 33. den Boon JA, Snijder EJ, Chirnside ED, de Vries AA, Horzinek MC, and Spaan WJ. (1991). Equine arteritis virus is not a togavirus but belongs to the coronaviruslike super family. *J Virol*,65 (6):2910-20.
- 34. Diaz I, Darwich L, Pappaterra G, Pujols J, and Mateu E. (2005). Immune responses of pigs after experimental infection with a European strain of Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *J. Gen. Virol*, 86: 1943-1951.
- 35. Done SH and Paton DJ. (1995). Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome: clinical disease, pathology and immunosuppression. *Vet Rec*, 14: 136 (2): 32-35.
- 36. Drew TW, Meulenberg JJ, Sands JJ, and Paton DJ. (1995). Production, characterization and reactivity of monoclonal antibodies to porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *J Gen Virol*, 76:1361-1369.
- 37. Duan X, Nauwynck HJ, Favoreel HW, Pensaert MB. (1998). Identification of a putative receptor for porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus on porcine alveolar macrophages. *J Virol*, 72(5): 4520-4523.
- 38. Enterlein S, Warfield KL, Swenson DL, Stein DA, Smith JL, Gamble CS, Kroeker AD, Iversen PL, Bavari S and Muhlberger E.(2006). VP35 knockdown inhibits ebola virus amplification and protects against lethal infection in mice. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother*, 50: 984–993.
- 39. Ge Q, Pastey M, Kobasa D, Puthavathana P, Lupfer C, Bestwick RK, Iversen PL, Chen J and Stein DA. (2006). Inhibition of multiple subtypes of Influenza A virus in cell cultures with morpholino oligomers. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother*, 50: 3724–3733.
- 40. Godeny EK, Chen L, Kumar SN, Methven SL, Koonin EV, Brinton MA. (1993). Complete genomic sequence and phylogenetic analysis of the lactate dehydrogenase-elevating virus (LDV). *Virology*, 194 (2): 585-596.

- 41. Goyal SM. (1993). Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome: review. *J Vet Diagn Invest*, 5: 656-664.
- 42. Han J, Liu GP, Wang Y, and Faaberg KS. (2007). Identification of nonessential regions of the nsp2 replicase protein of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus strain vr-2332 for replication in cell culture. *J. Virol*, 81 (18): 9878-9890.
- 43. Hudziak RM, Barofsky E, Barofsky DF, Weller DL, Huang SB, and Weller DD. (1996). Resistance of morpholino phosphorodiamidate oligomers to enzymatic degradation. *Antisense Nucleic Acid Drug Dev*, 6: 267–272.
- 44. Hwang YK, Brinton MA. (1998). Cell proteins bind to a 67 nucleotide sequence within the 3' noncoding region (NCR) of simian hemorrhagic fever virus (SHFV) negative-strand RNA. *Adv Exp Med Biol*, 440: 235-240.
- 45. Jenkins MK, Khoruts A, Ingulli E, Mueller DL, McSorley SJ, Reinhardt RL, Itano A, and Pape KA. (2001). In vivo activation of antigen-specific CD4 T cells. *Annu. Rev. Immunol*, 19:23-45.
- 46. Johnson CR, Yu W, and Murtaugh MP. (2007). Cross-reactive antibody responses to nsp1 and nsp2 of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *J. Gen. Virol*, 88:1184-1195.
- 47. Johnson W, Roof M, Vaughn E, Christopher-Hennings J, Johnson CR, and Murtaugh MP. (2004). Pathogenic and humoral immune responses to porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) are related to viral load in acute infection. *Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol*, 102:233-247.
- 48. Keffaber KK. (1989). Reproductive failure of unknown etiology. *American Association of Swine Practitioners Newsletter*, 1: 1-19.
- 49. Key KF, DiCristina J, Gillespie J, Guenette DK, Meng XJ. (2007). Direct inoculation of RNA transcripts from an infectious cDNA clone of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) into the lymph nodes and tonsils of pigs initiates PRRSV infection in vivo. *Arch Virol*, 152 (7): 1383-1387.
- 50. Kim HS, Kwang J, Yoon IJ, Joo HS, Frey ML. (1993). Enhanced replication of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) virus in a homogeneous subpopulation of MA-104 cell line. *Arch Virol*, 133(3-4): 477-483.
- 51. Katz JB, Shafer AL, Eernisse KA, Landgraf JG, and Nelson EA. (1995). Antigenic difference between European and America isolates of porcine reproductive and

respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) are encoded by the carboxyterminal portion of viral open reading frame 3. *Vet Microbiol*, 44: 65-76.

- 52. Kim JK, Fahad AM, Shanmukhappa K, Kapil S. (2006). Defining the cellular target(s) of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus blocking monoclonal antibody 7G10. *J. Virol*, 80 (2): 689-696.
- 53. Kinney RM, Huang CY, Rose BC, Kroeker AD, Dreher TW, Iversen PL and Stein DA. (2005). Inhibition of dengue virus Serotypes 1 to 4 in vero cell cultures with morpholino oligomers. *J. Virol*, 79: 5116–5128.
- 54. Kreutz LC, Ackermann MR. (1996). Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus enters cells through a low pH-dependent endocytic pathway. *Virus Res*, 42 (1-2): 137-147.
- 55. Kurreck J. (2003). Antisense technologies. Improvement through novel chemical modifications. *Eur J Biochem*, 270: 1628–1644.
- 56. Lawson SR, Rossow KD, Collins JE, Benfield DA, and Rowland RR. (1997). Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infection of gnotobiotic pigs: sites of virus replication and co-localization with MAC-387 staining at 21 days post-infection. *Virus Res*, 51:105-113.
- 57. Loemba HD, Mounir S, Mardassi H, Archambault D, and Dea S.(1996). Kinetics of humoral immune response to the major structural proteins of the porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *Arch. Virol*, 141:751-761.
- 58. Magar R, Larochelle R, Dea S, Gagnon CA, Nelson EA, Christopher-Hennings J, and Benfield DA. (1995). Antigenic comparison of Canadian and US isolates of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus using monoclonal antibodies to the nucleocapsid protein. *Can J Vet Res*, 59(3): 232-234.
- 59. Magar R, Larochelle R, Nelson EA, and Charreyre C. (1997). Differential reactivity of a monoclonal antibody directed to the membrane protein of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *Can J Vet Res*, 61 (1): 69-71.
- 60. Mardassi H, Mounir S, and Dea S. (1994). Identification of major differences in the nucleocapsid protein genes of a Quebec strain and European strains of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *J Gen Virol*, 75:681-685.
- 61. Meier WA, Galeota J, Osorio FA, Husmann RJ, Schnitzlein WM, and Zuckermann FA. (2003). Gradual development of the interferon- $\gamma$  response of swine to porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infection or vaccination. *Virology*, 309: 18–31.

- 62. Meng XJ. (2000). Heterogeneity of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus: implications for current vaccine efficacy and future vaccine development. *Vet. Microbiol*, 74:309–329.
- 63. Meng XJ, Paul PS, and Halbur PG. (1994). Molecular cloning and nucleotide sequencing of the 3' terminal genomic RNA of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *J. Gen. Virol*, 75: 1795–1801.
- 64. Meng XJ, Paul PS, Halbur PG, Lum MA. (1995). Phylogenetic analyses of the putative M (ORF 6) and N (ORF 7) genes of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV): implication for the existence of two genotypes of PRRSV in the U.S.A. and Europe. *Arch Virol*, 140 (4): 745-755.
- 65. Meng XJ, Paul PS, Halbur PG and Lum MA. (1996a). Characterization of a highvirulence US isolate of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in a continuous cell line, ATCC CRL11171. J. Vet. Diagn. Invest, 8: 374–381.
- 66. Meng XJ, Paul PS, Morozov I, and Halbur PG. (1996b). A nested set of six or seven subgenomic mRNAs is formed in cells infected with different isolates of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *J. Gen. Virol*, 77:1265–1270.
- 67. Meulenberg JJ, Petersen-Den Besten A, De Kluyver EP, Moormann RJ, Schaaper WM, and Wensvoort G. (1995). Characterization of proteins encoded by ORFs 2 to 7 of Lelystad virus. *Virology*, 206: 155–163.
- 68. Meulenberg JJ, de Meijer EJ, and Moormann RJM. (1993a). Subgenomic RNAs of Lelystad virus contains a conserved leader-body junction sequence. *J. Gen. Virol*, 74: 1697–1701.
- 69. Meulenberg JJ, de Meijer EJ, Moormann RJM. (1993b). Lelystad virus, the causative agent of porcine epidemic abortion and respiratory syndrome (PEARS), is related to LDV and EAV. *Virology*, 192(1): 62-72.
- 70. Meulenberg, JJ, Hulst MM, de Meijer EJ, Moonen PL, den Besten A, de Kluyver EP, Wensvoort G, and Moormann RJ. (1994). Lelystad virus belongs to a new virus family, comprising lactate dehydrogenase-elevating virus, equine arteritis virus, and simian hemorrhagic fever virus. *Arch Virol Suppl*, 9: 441-448.
- 71. Meulenberg JJ, Petersen-den Besten A, De Kluyver EP, Moormann RJ, Schaaper WM, Wensvoort G. (1995). Characterization of proteins encoded by ORFs 2 to 7 of Lelystad virus. *Virology*, 206 (1): 155-163.
- 72. Meulenberg JJ, Bos-de Ruijter JN, van de Graaf R, Wensvoort G, Moormann RJ. (1998). Infectious transcripts from cloned genome-length cDNA of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *J Virol*, 72 (1): 380-387.

- 73. Mengeling WL, Vorwald AC, Lager KM, and Brockmeier SL. (1996). Comparison among strains of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus for their ability to cause reproductive failure. *Am J Vet Res*,57 (6):834-839.
- 74. Mengeling WL, Lager KM, Vorwald AC. (1998). Clinical effects of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus on pigs during the early postnatal interval. *Am J Vet Res*, 59 (1): 52-55.
- 75. Mengeling WL, Vorwald AC, Lager KM, Clouser DE, Wesley RD. (1999). Identification and clinical assessment of suspected vaccine-related field strains of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *Am. J. Vet. Res*, 60:334-340.
- 76. Moulton HM, Nelson MH, Hatlevig SA, Reddy MT and Iversen PL. (2004). Cellular uptake of antisense morpholino oligomers conjugated to arginine-rich peptides. *Bioconjug. Chem*, 15: 290–299.
- 77. Mulupuri P, Zimmerman JJ, Hermann JH, Johnson CR, Cano JP, Yu W, Dee SA, and Murtaugh MP. (2008). Antigen-specific b-cell responses to porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infection. *J Virol*, 82 (1): 358-370.
- 78. Murtaugh MP, Xiao Z, and Zuckermann F. (2002). Immunological responses of swine to porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infection. *Viral Immunol*, 15:533-547.
- 79. Nelsen CJ, Murtaugh MP, Faaberg KS. (1999). Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus comparison: divergent evolution on two continents. *J Virol*, 73 (1): 270-280.
- Nielsen HS, Liu G, Nielsen J, Oleksiewicz MB, Botner A, Storgaard T, Faaberg KS. (2003). Generation of an infectious clone of VR-2332, a highly virnt North American-type isolate of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *J Virol*, 77 (6): 3702-3711.
- 81. Nelson EA, Christopher-Hennings J, Drew T, Wenvoort G, Collins J, and Benfield DA. (1993). Differentiation of U.S. and European isolates of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus by monoclonal antibodies. *J Clin Microbiol*, 31: 3184-3189.
- 82. Neumann EJ, Kliebenstein JB, Johnson CD, Mabry JW, Bush EJ, Seitzinger AH, Green AL, and Zimmerman JJ. (2005). Assessment of the economic impact of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome on swine production in the United States. *J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc*, 227: 385–392.
- 83. Opriessnig T, Halbur PG, Yoon KJ, Pogranichniy RM, Harmon KM, Evans R, Key KF, Pallares FJ, Thomas P and Meng XJ. (2002). Comparison of molecular and biological characteristics of a modified live porcine reproductive and respiratory

syndrome virus (PRRSV) vaccine (ingelvac PRRS MLV), the parent strain of the vaccine (ATCC VR2332), ATCC VR2385, and two recent field isolates of PRRSV. *J. Virol*, 76: 11837–11844.

- 84. Osorio FA, Galeota JA, Nelson E, Brodersen B, Doster A, Wills R, Zuckermann F and Laegreid WW. (2002). Passive transfer of virus-specific antibodies confers protection against reproductive failure induced by a virulent strain of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus and establishes sterilizing immunity. *Virology*, 302: 9–20.
- 85. Ostrowski W, Galeota JA, Jar AM, Platt KB, Osorio FA and Lopez OJ. (2002). Identification of neutralizing and non-neutralizing epitopes in the porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus GP5 ectodomain. *J. Virol*, 76: 4241– 4250.
- 86. Patel D, Opriessnig T, Stein DA, Halbur PG, Meng XJ, Iversen PK, and Zhang YJ. (2008). Peptide-conjugated morpholino oligomers inhibit porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus replication. *Antiviral Res*, 77:95-107.
- 87. Pedersen KW, van der Meer Y, Roos N, Snijder EJ. (1999). Open reading frame 1aencoded subunits of the arterivirus replicase induce endoplasmic reticulum-derived double-membrane vesicles which carry the viral replication complex. *J Virol*, 73(3): 2016-2026.
- 88. Plagemann PG, Moennig V. (1992). Lactate dehydrogenase-elevating virus, equine arteritis virus, and simian hemorrhagic fever virus: a new group of positive-strand RNA viruses. *Adv Virus Res*, 41:99-192.
- 89. Plagemann PG, Rowland RR, and Faberg KS. (2002). The primary neutralization epitope of porcine respiratory and reproductive syndrome virus strain VR-2332 is located in the middle of the GP5 ectodomain. *Arch. Virol*, 147:2327–2347.
- 90. Preto C and Castro JM. (2005). Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infection in the boar: a review. *Theriogenology*, 63: 1-16.
- 91. Rossow KD, Bautista EM, Goyal GW, Molitor TW, Murtaugh MP, and Morrison MB. (1994). Experimental porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infection in 1-, 4-, and 10-week-old pigs. *J. Vet. Diagn. Invest*, 6: 3–12.
- 92. Rossow KD. (1998). Reveiw Article: Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome. *Vet Pathol*, 35: 1-20.
- Rossow KD, Benfield D, Goyal GW, Nelson E, Christopher J, and Collins J. (1996). Chronological immunohistochemical detection and location of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in gnotobiotic pigs. *Vet Pathol*, 33: 551-556.

- 94. Rossow KD, Collins JE, Goyal GW, Nelson E, Christopher J, and Benfield D, A (1995). Pathogenesis of Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in gnotobiotic pigs. *Vet Pathol*, 32: 361-373.
- 95. Sawicki SG and Sawicki SD. (1995). Coronaviruses use discontinuous extension for synthesis of subgenome-length negative strands. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol*, 380: 499–506.
- 96. Shanmukhappa K, Kim JK, Kapil S. (2007). Role of CD151, a tetraspanin, in porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infection. *J.Virol*, 4: 62.
- 97. Snijder EJ, Meulenberg JJ. (1998). The molecular biology of arteriviruses. *J Gen Virol*, 79: 961-79.
- 98. Snijder EJ, van Tol H, Pedersen KW, Raamsman MJ, and de Vries AA (1999). Identification of a novel structural protein of arteriviruses. *J Virol*, 73 (8): 6335-6345.
- 99. Stephenson ML and Zamecnik PC. (1978). Inhibition of Rous sarcoma viral RNA translation by a specific oligodeoxyribonucleotide. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 75: 285–288.
- Stevenson GW, Van Alstine WG, Kanitz CL, Keffaber KK. (1993). Endemic porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infection of nursery pigs in two swine herds without current reproductive failure. *J Vet Diagn Invest*, 5(3): 432-4.
- 101. Suarez P, Zardoya R, Martin MJ, Prieto C, Dopazo J, Solana A, Castro JM. (1996). Phylogenetic relationships of european strains of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV) inferred from DNA sequences of putative ORF-5 and ORF-7 genes. *Virus Res*, 42 (1-2):159-65.
- 102. Summerton J. (1999). Morpholino antisense oligomers: the case for an RNase Hindependent structural type. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, 1489: 141–158.
- 103. Summerton J and Weller D. (1997). Morpholino antisense oligomers: design, preparation, and properties. *Antisense Nucleic Acid Drug Dev*, 7: 187–195.
- 104. Sur JH, Doster AR, Christian JS, Galeota JA, Wills RW, Zimmerman JJ, Osorio FA. (1997). Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus replicates in testicular germ cells, alters spermatogenesis, and induces germ cell death by apoptosis. J Virol, 71 (12): 9170-9179.
- 105. Swenson SL, Hill HT, Zimmerman JJ, Evans JE, Landgraf JG, and Wills RW. (1994). Excretion of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus in semen

after experimentally induced infection in boars. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc, 204:1943–1948.

- 106. Tan C, Chang L, Shen S, Liu DX, and Kwang J. (2001). Comparison of the 5' leader sequences of North American isolates of reference and field strains of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus (PRRSV). *Virus Genes*, 22: 209–217.
- 107. Tian K, Yu X, Zhao T, Feng Y, and Cao Z. (2007). Emergence of Fatal PRRSV Variants: Unparalleled Outbreaks of Atypical PRRS in China and Molecular Dissection of the Unique Hallmark. *PLoS ONE*, 2(6): 526.
- 108. Terpstra C, Wensvoort G, Pol JM. (1991). Experimental reproduction of porcine epidemic abortion and respiratory syndrome (mystery swine disease) by infection with Lelystad virus: Koch's postulates fulfilled. *Vet Q*, 13(3): 131-136.
- 109. Truong HM, Lu Z, Kutish GF, Galeota J, Osorio FA, Pattnaik AK. (2004). A highly pathogenic porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus generated from an infectious cDNA clone retains the in vivo virulence and transmissibility properties of the parental virus. *Virology*, 325 (2): 308-319.
- 110. Umthun AR, Mengeling WL. (1999). Restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis of strains of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus by use of a nested-set reverse transcriptase- polymerase chain reaction. *Am. J. Vet. Res*, 60:802-806.
- 111. van Marle G, Dobbe JC, Gultyaev AP, Luytjes W, Spaan WJ, and Snijder EJ.. (1999). Arterivirus discontinuous mRNA transcription is guided by base pairing between sense and antisense transcription-regulating sequences. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A*, 96: 12056–12061.
- 112. van Woensel PA, Liefkens K, and Demaret S. (1998). Effect on viraemia of an American and European serotype PRRSV vaccine after challenge with European wild-type strain of the virus. *Vet Res*, 142: 510-512.
- 113. van den Born E, Stein DA, Iversen PL, and Snijder EJ. (2005). Antiviral activity of morpholino oligomers designed to block various aspects of Equine arteritis virus amplification in cell culture. *J. Gen. Virol*, 86: 3081–3090.
- 114. Vanderheijden N, Delputte P, Nauwynck H, and Pensaert M. (2001). Effects of heparin on the entry of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus into alveolar macrophages. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol*, 494:683-689.
- 115. Vanderheijden N, Delputte PL, Favoreel HW, Vandekerckhove J, Van Damme J, van Woensel PA, and Nauwynck HJ. (2003). Involvement of sialoadhesin in entry

of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus into porcine alveolar macrophages. J. Virol, 77:8207-8215.

- 116. Wasilk A, Callahan JD, Christopher-Hennings J, Gay TA, Fang Y, Dammen M, Reos ME, Torremorell M, Poison D, Mellencamp M, Nelson E, and Nelson WM. (2004). Detection of U.S., Lelystad, and European-like porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome viruses and relative quantitation in boar semen and serum samples by real-time PCR. J. Clin. Microbio, 42: 4453-4461.
- 117. Weiland E, Wieczorek-Krohmer M, Kohl D, Conzelmann KK, and Weiland F. (1999). Monoclonal antibodies to the GP5 of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus are more effective in virus neutralization than monoclonal antibodies to the GP4. *Vet. Microbiol*, 66:171–186.
- 118. Wensvoort G, Terpstra C, Pol JM, ter Laak EA, Bloemraad M, de Kluyver EP, Kragten C, van Buiten L, den Besten A, and Wagenaar F. (1991). Mystery swine disease in The Netherlands: the isolation of Lelystad virus. *Vet. Q*, 13.
- 119. Wensvoort G, Pol JM, ter Laak EA, Bloemraad M, de Kluyver EP, Kragten C, van Buiten L, den Besten A, Wagenaar F and Terpstra C. (1992). Lylystd virus, the cause of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome: a review of mystery swine disease research at Lelystad. *Vet Microbiol*, 33:185-193.
- 120. White M. (1991) "Blue ear" disease in pigs. Veterinary Record, 128:574.
- 121. Wu WH, Fang Y, Farwell R, Steffen-Bien M, Rowland RR, Christopher-Hennings J, Nelson EA. (2001). A 10-kDa structural protein of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus encoded by ORF2b. *Virology*, 287(1): 183-191.
- 122. Wills JJ, Zimmerman KJ, Yoon SL, Swenson LJ, Hoffman MJ, McGinley MJ. (1997). Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus: routes of excretion. *Vet. Microbiol*, 57: 69–81.
- 123. Xiao Z., Batista L, Dee S, Halbur P, and Murtaugh MP. (2004). The level of virusspecific T-cell and macrophage recruitment in porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus infection in pigs is independent of virus load. *J. Virol*, 78:5923-5933.
- 124. Yang L, Frey ML, Yoon KJ, Zimmerman JJ, and Platt KB. (2000). Categorization of North American porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome viruses: epitopic profiles of the N, M, GP5 and GP3 proteins and susceptibility to neutralization. *Arch. Virol*, 145: 1599–1619.
- 125. Yoon IJ, Joo HS, Christianson WT, Kim HS, Collins JE, Carlson JH, and Dee SA (1992). Isolation of a cytopathic virus from weak pigs on farms with a history of swine infertility and respiratory syndrome. *J. Vet. Diagn. Invest*,4: 139–143.

- 126. Yoon K, Zimmerman J, Swenson S, Frey M, Hill H, and Platt K. (1995). Characterization of the humoral immune response to porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus by monoclonal antibodies. *J Vet Diagn Invest*, 7: 305-312.
- 127. Youngblood DS, Hatlevig SA, Hassinger JN, Iversen PL, and Moulton HM. (2007). Stability of cell-penetrating peptide-morpholino oligomer conjugates in human serum and in cells. *Bioconjug. Chem*, 18: 50–60.
- 128. Yuan J, Stein DA, Lim T, Qiu D, Coughlin S, Liu Z, Wang Y, Bouch R, Moulton HM, Iversen PL and Yang D. (2006). Inhibition of coxsackievirus B3 in cell-cultures and in mice by peptide-conjugated morpholino oligomers targeting the IRES. J. Virol. 80: 11510–11519.
- 129. Yuan S and Wei Z. (2008). Construction of infectious cDNA clones of PRRSV: separation of coding regions for nonstructural and structural proteins. *Sci China C Life Sci*, 51(3): 271-219.
- 130. Zamecnik PC, Stephenson ML (1978). Inhibition of Rous sarcoma virus replication and cell transformation by a specific oligodeoxynucleotide. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 75: 280–284.
- 131. Zhang YJ, Sharma RD, and Paul PS.(1998). Monoclonal antibodies against conformationally dependent epitopes on porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. *Vet. Microbiol*, 63: 125–136.
- 132. Zhang YJ, Stein DA, Fan SM, Wang KY, Kroeker AD, Meng XJ, Iversen PL, and Matson DO. (2006). Suppression of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus replication by morpholino antisense oligomers. *Vet. Microbiol*, 117: 117–129.
- 133. Zhang YJ, Wang KY, Stein DA, Patel D, Watkins R, Moulton HM, Iversen PL, and Matson DO. (2007). Inhibition of replication and transcription activator and latency-associated nuclear antigen of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus by morpholino oligomers. *Antiviral Res*, 73: 12–23.
- 134. Zimmerman J, Benfield D, Murtaugh M, Osorio F, Stevenson G, Torremorell M. (2006). Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus. In: Diseases of Swine (9th edition).
- Zuckerman F, Osorio F, Husmann R, Meier W, Schwartz R, Brandt J and Osorio F. (1998). Analysis of the cell-mediated immune responses of pigs to PRRS virus. *Proc Am Assoc Swine Pract*, 399-400